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Cautionary Statement
 

This report, including the following discussion and analysis, contains forward-looking statements (within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995) that are based on our current expectations, estimates and projections about our business and our industry, and reflect
management’s beliefs and certain assumptions made by us based upon information available to us as of the date of this report. When used in this
report and the information incorporated herein by reference, the words “expect(s),” “feel(s),” “believe(s),” “should,” “would,” “could,” “may,”
“anticipate(s),” “estimate(s)” and similar expressions or variations of these words are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These
forward-looking statements include but are not limited to statements regarding our anticipated sales, revenue, expenses, profits, capital needs,
competition, backlog and manufacturing capabilities, the practical market applications, future applications and acceptance of our products and
services, the status of our facilities and product development. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to certain
risks and uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected. You should not place undue reliance on these
forward-looking statements that speak only as of the date hereof. We undertake no obligation to republish revised forward-looking statements to reflect
events or circumstances after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. We encourage you to carefully review and consider
the various disclosures made by us which describe certain factors which could affect our business, including those  in “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of this
report, before deciding to invest in our company or to maintain or increase your investment. We undertake no obligation to revise or update publicly
any forward-looking statement for any reason.

 
PART I

 
ITEM 1.                              BUSINESS
 
Overview
 

We are a leader in the traffic management market focused on the development and application of advanced technologies that reduce traffic congestion
and improve the safety of surface transportation systems infrastructure. As an added benefit, our products and services minimize the environmental impact of
traffic congestion. By combining outdoor image processing, traffic engineering and information technology, we offer a broad range of Intelligent Transportation
Systems (“ITS”) and driver safety solutions to customers worldwide.

 
We were originally incorporated in Delaware in 1987.  Our principal executive offices are located at 1700 Carnegie Avenue, Santa Ana, California

92705, and our telephone number at that location is (949) 270-9400.  Our Internet website address is www.iteris.com.  Our annual reports on Form 10-K,
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K, together with amendments to these reports, are available on the “Investors” section of our
website, free of charge, as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with, or furnished to, the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”).  The inclusion of our website address in this report does not include or incorporate by reference into this report any information on our
website.

 
We currently operate in three reportable segments: Roadway Sensors, Vehicle Sensors and Transportation Systems. The Roadway Sensors segment

includes our Vantage and VersiCam vehicle detection systems for traffic intersection control, incident detection and certain highway traffic data collection
applications. The Vehicle Sensors segment includes our AutoVue Lane Departure Warning (“LDW”) system and is comprised of all activities related to vehicle
safety. The Transportation Systems segment includes transportation engineering and consulting services, and the development of transportation management
and traveler information systems for the ITS industry. See Note 8 of the accompanying consolidated financial statements for further details on our reportable
segments.

 
Our Roadway Sensors segment product line uses advanced image processing technology to capture and analyze video images through sophisticated

algorithms, enabling vehicle detection and transmission of both video images and data using a wide range of communication technologies.  Our Vantage video
detection systems detect vehicle presence, count, speed, occupancy and other traffic data used in traffic management systems.  This gives traffic managers the
ability to mitigate roadway congestion by modifying traffic signal timing or detecting incidents quickly.  VersiCam, our integrated camera and processor video
detection system, is a cost-efficient video detection system for smaller intersections that require only a few detection points.  Vantage video detection systems
have been deployed by hundreds of agencies and are currently sold through a network of independent dealers in the United States, Asia, Latin America,
Europe and the Middle East.
 

Our Vehicle Sensors segment addresses the leading cause of roadway fatalities:  rear-end, lane change, and roadway departure accidents.  According
to the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, these three crash types result in about 27,500 of the U.S.’s 42,000 annual traffic fatalities and
contribute to a considerable economic loss due to injuries, property damage, and decreased productivity.
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Our Vehicle Sensors segment developed the world’s first production LDW system and offers a proven system that is available as an original
equipment manufacturer (“OEM”) and aftermarket option on heavy trucks worldwide and as an OEM option in passenger cars.  Our LDW products utilize
video detection images to detect when a vehicle begins to approach an unintended lane change.  When this occurs, the unit automatically emits a distinctive
rumble strip or other audible warning sound, alerting the driver to make a correction.  To date, we have sold approximately 69,000 LDW systems into the
heavy truck market in Europe, North America and Asia.  Our LDW systems are currently qualified as an option on certain heavy trucks, including
Mercedes-Benz, MAN, Iveco, DAF, Scania, Freightliner and FUSO, as well as Neoplan and MAN luxury bus and coach lines. In North America, our LDW
systems are sold primarily to truck fleets, and to date, 74 U.S. heavy truck fleets have selected our LDW systems, with a combined fleet size estimated at
58,000 vehicles.  Additionally, we have licensed our LDW technology to our strategic partner, Valeo Schalter and Sensuren GmbH (“Valeo”), an independent
automotive supplier, resulting in sales to date of approximately 69,000 LDW systems for passenger cars.
 

In addition to our LDW systems, we expanded our Vehicle Sensors portfolio in August 2008 with newly developed technologies such as radar based
Forward Collision Warning (“FCW”) and Blind Spot Warning (“BSW”) systems for the North American truck market.  We also introduced Safety Direct in
March 2008, which is a system that reports real-time driver performance data captured by our LDW system and that has the ability to relay this information
directly to fleet operators through integration with the truck’s existing fleet communications system.  We offer the FCW and BSW features through the resale of
Delphi’s radar based systems, for which we are the exclusive North American dealer, while Safety Direct was internally developed. These new products,
together with our LDW products, combine to create a broad suite of active safety driver assistance features that help to reduce the number of motor vehicle
crashes and the severity of crash-related injuries.

 
Our Transportation Systems segment includes transportation engineering and consulting services focused on the planning, design, development and

implementation of software-based systems that integrate sensors, video surveillance, computers and advanced communications equipment to enable public
agencies to monitor, control and direct traffic flow, assist in the quick dispatch of emergency crews and distribute real-time information about traffic
conditions. Our services include planning, design and implementation of surface transportation infrastructure systems.  We perform analysis and study goods
movement, commercial vehicle operations, travel demand forecasting and systems engineering, and identify mitigation measures to reduce traffic congestion. 
These services and systems are primarily sold to local, state and national transportation agencies in the United States.  Our Transportation Systems segment
is largely dependent upon governmental funding and budgetary issues.
 
Sales, Marketing and Principal Customers
 

We sell our Roadway Sensors products through indirect sales channels comprised of independent dealers in the United States and Canada who sell
integrated systems and related products to the traffic management market, as well as directly to the traffic management market using a combination of our own
sales personnel and an outside sales organization. Our independent dealers are primarily responsible for sales, installation and support of these products.
These dealers maintain an inventory of demonstration traffic products from various manufacturers including our vehicle detection systems and sell directly to
government agencies and installation contractors. These dealers often have long-term arrangements with the government agencies in their territory for the supply
of various products for the construction and renovation of traffic intersections. We hold technical training classes for dealers and end users and maintain a
full-time staff of customer support technicians to provide technical assistance when needed.

 
Our marketing strategy for our Vehicle Sensors segment is to establish our LDW products as the leading platform for in-vehicle video sensing for

heavy trucks and passenger cars.  We sell LDW systems directly to heavy truck manufacturers and to U.S. truck fleets, and our LDW system is currently
offered as an option on certain heavy trucks, including Mercedes-Benz, MAN, Iveco, DAF, Scania, Freightliner and FUSO, as well as Neoplan and MAN
luxury bus and coach lines. We market the licensing of our LDW technology to manufacturers of passenger automobiles through an exclusive strategic
relationship with Valeo. In connection with this marketing effort, we provide specific contract engineering services, technical marketing and sales support to
Valeo, which to date has enabled the launch of our LDW technology on three Infiniti car platforms. We plan to continue to provide technical marketing and
sales support to Valeo in our efforts to win new OEM customers for the passenger car market as well as contract engineering services related to the possible
launch of new platforms that include our LDW system.

 
We market and sell our Transportation Systems services directly to government agencies pursuant to negotiated contracts that involve competitive

bidding and specific qualification requirements. Most of our Transportation Systems contracts are with federal, state and municipal customers and generally
provide for cancellation or renegotiation at the option of the customer upon reasonable notice and fees paid for modification. We use selected members of our
engineering team divided on a regional basis to serve in sales and business development functions. We have historically not engaged in sales of transportation
management systems and traveler information services outside of the U.S., but may do so in the future. Our Transportation Systems contracts generally
involve long lead times and require extensive specification development, evaluation and price negotiations.

 
A large portion of our revenues are derived from sales to federal, state and local government agencies.  We currently have a diverse customer base

with no individual customer representing greater than 10% of our total net sales and contract revenues in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009 (“Fiscal 2009”)
or the fiscal year ended March 31, 2008 (“Fiscal 2008”). Also refer to Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Part IV, Item 15 of
this report.
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Manufacturing and Materials
 

We use contract manufacturers to build subassemblies that are used in our sensors products. Additionally, we procure certain components from
qualified suppliers, both globally and locally, and generally use multi-sourcing strategies when technically and economically feasible to mitigate supply risk.
These subassemblies and components are delivered to our Santa Ana facility where they go through final assembly and testing prior to shipment to our
customers. Certain of our key suppliers include SMS Technologies, Inc., Hitachi American Ltd-UB and Total Electronics LLC. Our manufacturing activities
are conducted in approximately 9,000 square feet of space at our Santa Ana, California facility. Production volume at our subcontractors is based upon
quarterly forecasts that we adjust on a monthly basis to control inventory levels. For LDW products sales to the passenger car market, all manufacturing has
been and is expected to be performed by Valeo; however, we plan to continue to provide engineering support to Valeo. We currently do not manufacture any of
the hardware used in the transportation management and traveler information systems that we design and implement. Our production facility is currently ISO
9001 certified.
 
Customer Support and Services
 

We provide warranty service and support for our products, as well as follow-up service and support for which we charge separately. Service revenue
accounted for less than 1.0% of total net sales and contract revenues for Fiscal 2009. We believe customer support is a key competitive factor.

 
Backlog
 

Our backlog of unfulfilled firm orders was approximately $36.3 million as of March 31, 2009, which was comprised of $1.0 million related to
Roadway Sensors, $800,000 related to Vehicle Sensors and $34.5 million related to Transportation Systems. Substantially all of the backlog for Roadway
Sensors and Vehicle Sensors is expected to be recognized as revenue in the fiscal year ending March 31, 2010 (“Fiscal 2010”), while approximately 75% of
Transportation Systems backlog is expected to be recognized as revenue in Fiscal 2010. At March 31, 2008, we had backlog of approximately $26.8 million,
which was comprised of $900,000 related to Roadway Sensors, $1.3 million related to Vehicle Sensors and $24.6 million related to Transportation Systems.
All backlog as of March 31, 2008 for Roadway Sensors and Vehicle Sensors was recognized as revenue in Fiscal 2009 while approximately 65% of our
March 31, 2008 backlog for Transportation Systems was recognized as revenue in Fiscal 2009. Pursuant to the customary terms of our agreements with
government contractors and other customers, customers can generally cancel or reschedule orders with little or no penalties. Lead times for the release of
purchase orders often depend upon the scheduling and forecasting practices of our individual customers, which also can affect the timing of the conversion of
our backlog into revenues. For these reasons, among others, our backlog at a particular date may not be indicative of our future revenues, in particular for
Roadway Sensors and Vehicle Sensors.

 
Product Development
 

Most of our development activities are conducted at our principal facilities in Santa Ana, California. Our company-sponsored research and
development costs and expenses were approximately $4.0 million for Fiscal 2009, $3.6 million for Fiscal 2008, and $4.0 million for the fiscal year ended
March 31, 2007 (“Fiscal 2007”). We expect to continue to pursue certain product development programs and incur research and development expenditures.

 
Competition
 

We generally face significant competition in each of our target markets. Increased competition may result in price reductions, reduced gross margins
and loss of market share, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. While our LDW
products have historically been the only established commercially-available LDW system used in the U.S. and in Europe in the heavy truck market, we have
recently experienced increased competition from new competitors in this market. We consider competitors in this market to include Delphi Automotive Systems
Corporation, NEC Corporation and Hitachi Ltd. in Japan and Robert Bosch GmbH in Europe, Continental Tavis, Visteon and Takata, which currently have
developed or are developing video sensor technologies for the vehicle industry that could be used for lane departure warning systems. In the market for our
Roadway Sensors vehicle detection products, we compete with manufacturers of other above ground video camera detection systems such as Econolite Control
Products, Inc., Traficon, N.V., and other non-intrusive detection devices including microwave, infrared, ultrasonic and magnetic detectors, as well as
manufacturers and installers of in-pavement inductive loop products.

 
The Transportation Systems market is highly fragmented and is subject to evolving national and regional quality and safety standards. Our

competitors vary in number, scope and breadth of the products and services they offer. Our competitors in advanced Transportation Systems include national
corporations such as Transcore, Siemens, Telvent Farradyne, Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. and Delcan. Our competitors in transportation engineering,
planning and design include major firms such as Parsons Brinkerhoff, Inc., URS, HNTB and Parsons Transportation Group, Inc., as well as many smaller
regional engineering firms.
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In general, the markets for the products and services we offer are highly competitive and are characterized by rapidly changing technology and
evolving standards. Many of our current and prospective competitors have longer operating histories, greater name recognition, access to larger customer bases
and significantly greater financial, technical, manufacturing, distribution and marketing resources than us. As a result, they may be able to adapt more
quickly to new or emerging standards or technologies or to devote greater resources to the promotion and sale of their products. It is also possible that new
competitors or alliances among competitors could emerge and rapidly acquire significant market share. We believe that our ability to compete effectively in our
target markets will depend on a number of factors, including the success and timing of our new product development, the compatibility of our products with a
broad range of computing systems, product quality and performance, reliability, functionality, price and service and technical support. Our failure to provide
services and develop and market products that compete successfully with those of other suppliers and consultants in our target markets would have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

 
Intellectual Property and Proprietary Rights
 

Our ability to compete effectively depends in part on our ability to develop and maintain the proprietary aspects of our technology. Our policy is to
obtain appropriate proprietary rights protection for any potentially significant new technology acquired or developed by us. We currently hold ten U.S. patents,
which expire commencing in 2012, relating to our outdoor image processing techniques used in our AutoVue LDW systems. Nine of our patents relate
specifically to our LDW technology and provide a basis for enhanced functionality for rain sensing and improved performance. We believe that our other
patent, while important for our technology platforms, is less critical to our near term product strategy.  In April 2009, we acquired the rights to U.S.,
Canadian, and European Community patent applications for an Electronic Traffic Monitor that is related to new products in our Roadway Sensors businesses
(also refer to Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Part IV, Item 15 of this report). We cannot assure you that any new patents
will be granted pursuant to these or subsequent applications.

 
In addition to patent laws, we rely on copyright and trade secret laws to protect our proprietary rights. We attempt to protect our trade secrets and

other proprietary information through agreements with customers and suppliers, proprietary information agreements with our employees and consultants, and
other similar measures. We do not have any material licenses or trademarks other than those relating to product names. We cannot be certain that we will be
successful in protecting our proprietary rights. While we believe our patents, patent applications, software and other proprietary know-how have value,
changing technology makes our future success dependent principally upon our employees’ technical competence and creative skills for continuing innovation.

 
Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our proprietary rights, to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others, or to

defend us against claims of infringement or invalidity by others. An adverse outcome in such litigation or similar proceedings could subject us to significant
liabilities to third parties, require disputed rights to be licensed from others or require us to cease marketing or using certain products, any of which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the cost of addressing any intellectual property
litigation claim, both in legal fees and expenses, as well as from the diversion of management’s resources, regardless of whether the claim is valid, could be
significant and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

 
Employees
 

We refer to our employees as associates. As of June 1, 2009, we employed an aggregate of 242 associates, including 55 associates in general
management, administration and finance; 22 associates in sales and marketing; 132 associates in engineering and product development; 20 associates in
operations, manufacturing and quality; and 13 associates in customer service. None of our associates are represented by a labor union, and we have never
experienced a work stoppage.

 
Government Regulation
 

Our manufacturing operations are subject to various federal, state and local laws and regulations, including those restricting the discharge of
materials into the environment. We are not involved in any pending or, to our knowledge, threatened governmental proceedings, which would require
curtailment of our operations because of such laws and regulations. We continue to expend funds in connection with our compliance with applicable
environmental regulations. These expenditures have not, however, been significant in the past, and we do not expect any significant expenditure in the near
future. Currently, compliance with foreign laws has not had a material impact on our business and is not expected to have a material impact in the near future.
 
ITEM 1A.                     RISK FACTORS
 

Our business is subject to a number of risks, some of which are discussed below. Other risks are presented elsewhere in this report and in
the information incorporated by reference into this report. You should consider the following risks carefully in addition to the other information
contained in this report and our other filings with the SEC, including our annual report on Form 10-K and subsequent reports on Forms 10-Q and 8-
K, before deciding to buy, sell, or hold our common stock. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones facing our company.
Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also affect our business operations. If any of
these risks actually occurs, our business, financial condition, or results of operations could be seriously harmed. In that event, the market price for our
common stock could decline and you may lose all or part of your investment.
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THE ECONOMIC SLOWDOWN HAS ADVERSELY IMPACTED REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT, REDUCED OR DELAYED
GOVERNMENT FUNDING FOR TRANSPORTATION INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS AND INITIATIVES AND DECREASED
AVAILABILITY OF FINANCIAL CAPITAL FOR OUR CUSTOMERS, ALL OF WHICH HAVE ADVERSELY IMPACTED OUR NET
SALES AND COULD IMPACT OUR CONTRACT REVENUES.  Decreased consumer spending, the failure of certain financial institutions and
businesses, concerns about the availability and cost of credit, and reduced corporate profits and capital spending have resulted in a downturn in worldwide
economic conditions, as well as budgetary shortfalls increasingly present at all levels of government. These unfavorable economic conditions have had a
negative impact on customer orders and government funding of infrastructure projects incorporating our products and services. Such concerns may result in
cancellations and rescheduling of backlog. In addition, the recent decline in the U.S. real estate market, particularly in new home and commercial
construction, has adversely impacted new road construction and has resulted in and may continue to result in flat or slightly declining Roadway Sensor and
Vehicle Sensor net sales and could adversely impact Transportation Systems contract revenues. Any of the foregoing economic conditions make it extremely
difficult for our customers, our suppliers and us to accurately forecast and plan future business activities. If such conditions continue or worsen, our
business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.
 

BECAUSE WE DEPEND ON GOVERNMENT CONTRACTS AND SUBCONTRACTS, WE face ADDITIONAL RISKS RELATED
TO CONTRACTING WITH FEDERAL, STATE AND LOCAL GOVERNMENTS, INCLUDING BUDGETARY ISSUES AND FIXED PRICE
CONTRACTS. A significant portion of our sales are derived from contracts with governmental agencies, either as a general contractor, subcontractor or
supplier. Government contracts represented approximately 45%, 38% and 38% of our total net sales and contract revenues for the years ended March 31,
2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. We anticipate that revenue from government contracts will continue to remain a significant portion of our net sales and
contract revenues. Government business is, in general, subject to special risks and challenges, including:

 
· long purchase cycles or approval processes;
  
· competitive bidding and qualification requirements;
  
· the impact of international conflicts;
  
· delays in funding, including delays in the allocation of funds to state and local agencies from the U.S. federal government as a result of

the expiration of the 2005 Federal Highway Bill occurring in September 2009;
  
· performance bond requirements;
  
· changes in government policies and political agendas;
  
· other government budgetary constraints, cut-backs, delays or reallocation of government funding; and
  
· milestone requirements and liquidated damage provisions for failure to meet contract milestones.
 
Governmental budgets and plans are subject to change without warning. Certain risks of selling to governmental entities include dependence on

appropriations and administrative allocation of funds, changes in governmental procurement legislation and regulations and other policies that may reflect
political developments or agendas, significant changes in contract scheduling, intense competition for government business and termination of purchase
decisions for the convenience of the governmental entity. Substantial delays in purchase decisions by governmental entities, or governmental budgetary
constraints, could cause our net sales and contract revenues and income to drop substantially or to fluctuate significantly between fiscal periods.

 
In addition, a large number of our government contracts are fixed price contracts. As a result, we may not be able to recover any cost overruns we

may incur. These fixed price contracts require us to estimate the total project cost based on preliminary projections of the project’s requirements. The financial
viability of any given project depends in large part on our ability to estimate these costs accurately and complete the project on a timely basis. In the event our
costs on these projects exceed the fixed contractual amount, we will be required to bear the excess costs. Such additional costs would adversely affect our
financial condition and results of operations. Moreover, certain of our government contracts are subject to termination or renegotiation at the convenience of the
government, which could result in a large decline in our net sales and contract revenues in any given quarter. Our inability to address any of the foregoing
concerns or the loss or renegotiation of any material government contract could seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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CURRENT BUDGETARY CONSTRAINTS DUE TO THE SIGNIFICANT MILITARY OPERATIONS IN THE MIDDLE EAST OR
ELSEWHERE MAY IMPACT GOVERNMENT FUNDING OR CONSUMER SPENDING, CAUSING A DECLINE IN OUR REVENUES. In
the near term, the funding of U.S. military operations in the Middle East or elsewhere may cause additional disruptions in funding of government contracts.
Since military operations of such magnitude are not routinely included in U.S. defense budgets, supplemental legislative funding actions are often required to
finance such operations. Even when such legislation is enacted, it may not be adequate for ongoing operations, causing other government resources to be
temporarily or permanently diverted. Since a significant portion of our sales are derived from contracts with government agencies, such diversion of funds
could produce interruptions in funding or delays in receipt of our contracts, causing disruptions and adversely effecting our revenue and operations.

 
THE MARKETS IN WHICH WE OPERATE ARE HIGHLY COMPETITIVE AND HAVE MANY MORE ESTABLISHED

COMPETITORS, WHICH COULD ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR SALES OR THE MARKET ACCEPTANCE OF OUR PRODUCTS. We
compete with numerous other companies in our target markets including, but not limited to, large, multinational corporations, which include tier one
automotive suppliers, and many smaller regional engineering firms. We expect such competition to increase due to technological advancements, industry
consolidations and reduced barriers to entry. Increased competition is likely to result in price reductions, reduced gross margins and loss of market share, any
of which could seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. In Fiscal 2007, we began to experience more competition in our
Roadway Sensors segment as the Department of Transportation in one of our largest sales territories moved to a multi-source contracting environment from one
in which we were the sole supplier. In addition, one of the other developers of LDW systems was acquired by a large multinational organization during Fiscal
2009. This new competitor has increased its market share and could be more aggressive in both the passenger car and heavy truck markets, as a result of its
greater access to resources and reputation in the market. As a result, we have experienced increased price competition, which could erode our margins.
Additional new competitors have entered this market and more competitors may enter in the future. Furthermore, awareness of LDW technology is increasing
and other market players have developed competing technologies, which may contain improvements or added features beyond those offered by our LDW
systems. Additionally, from time to time, we may be required to re-compete for LDW business from our main customer base of heavy truck OEMs. These
OEMs could make a supplier change based on price, product performance or available features. Should our competition be successful, this could adversely
affect our ability to successfully market and sell our LDW systems to new and existing customers.

 
Many of our competitors have far greater name recognition and greater financial, technological, marketing, and customer service resources than we

do. This may allow them to respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements. It may also allow them to devote
greater resources to the development, promotion, sale and support of their products than we can. Recent consolidations of end users, distributors and
manufacturers in our target markets have exacerbated this problem. As a result of the foregoing factors, we may not be able to compete effectively in our target
markets and competitive pressures could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

 
WE MAY EXPERIENCE PRODUCTION GAPS THAT COULD MATERIALLY AND ADVERSELY IMPACT OUR SALES AND

FINANCIAL RESULTS AND THE ULTIMATE ACCEPTANCE OF OUR PRODUCTS. It is possible that we could experience unforeseen quality
control issues or part shortages as we adjust production to meet current demand for our products. We have historically used single suppliers for certain
significant components in our products. Should any such delay or disruption occur, or should a key supplier discontinue operations because of the current
economic climate, our future sales will likely be materially and adversely affected. Additionally, we rely heavily on select contract manufacturers to produce
many of our products and do not have any long-term contracts to guarantee supply of such products. Although we believe our contract manufacturers have
sufficient capacity to meet our production schedules for the foreseeable future and we believe we could find alternative contract manufacturing sources for
many of our products, if necessary, we could experience a production gap if for any reason our contract manufacturers were unable to meet our production
requirements and our cost of good sold could increase, adversely affecting our margins.
 

WE MAY BE UNABLE TO ATTRACT AND RETAIN KEY PERSONNEL, WHICH COULD SERIOUSLY HARM OUR BUSINESS.
Due to the specialized nature of our business, we are highly dependent on the continued service of our executive officers and other key management,
engineering and technical personnel. The loss of Abbas Mohaddes, our Chief Executive Officer, or any of the other executive officers or key members of
management could adversely affect our business, financial condition, or results of operations. Our success will also depend in large part upon our ability to
continue to attract, retain and motivate qualified engineering and other highly skilled technical personnel. In particular, the future success of our
Transportation Systems segment will depend on our ability to hire additional qualified engineers and planners. Competition for qualified employees,
particularly development engineers, is intense. We may not be able to continue to attract and retain sufficient numbers of such highly skilled employees. Our
inability to attract and retain additional key employees or the loss of one or more of our current key employees could adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
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IF WE ARE UNABLE TO DEVELOP AND INTRODUCE NEW PRODUCTS AND PRODUCT ENHANCEMENTS
SUCCESSFULLY AND IN A COST-EFFECTIVE AND TIMELY MANNER, OR ARE UNABLE TO ACHIEVE MARKET ACCEPTANCE
OF OUR NEW PRODUCTS, OUR OPERATING RESULTS WOULD BE ADVERSELY AFFECTED. We believe our revenue growth and future
operating results will depend on our ability to complete development of new products and enhancements, introduce these products in a timely, cost-effective
manner, achieve broad market acceptance of these products and enhancements, and reduce our product costs. We cannot guarantee the success of these
products, and we may not be able to introduce any new products or any enhancements to our existing products on a timely basis, or at all. In addition, the
introduction of any new products could adversely affect the sales of certain of our existing products.

 
We believe that we must continue to make substantial investments to support ongoing research and development in order to remain competitive. We

need to continue to develop and introduce new products that incorporate the latest technological advancements in outdoor image processing hardware, software
and camera technologies in response to evolving customer requirements. We cannot assure you that we will be able to adequately manage product transition
issues. Our business and results of operations could be adversely affected if we do not anticipate or respond adequately to technological developments or
changing customer requirements or if we cannot adequately manage inventory issues typically related to new product transitions and introductions. We cannot
assure you that any such investments in research and development will lead to any corresponding increase in revenue.

 
Market acceptance of our new products depends upon many factors, including our ability to accurately predict market requirements and evolving

industry standards, our ability to resolve technical challenges in a timely and cost-effective manner, qualify any new products with OEMs and achieve
manufacturing efficiencies, the perceived advantages of our new products over traditional products and the marketing capabilities of our independent
distributors and strategic partners, including Valeo’s ability to expand sales of LDW systems in the passenger car market. The success of our LDW system
will also depend in part on the success of the automotive vehicles that incorporate our technology, as well as the success of optional equipment that OEMs
bundle with our technologies.

 
Certain of the components used in our products may need to be re-engineered in the next 12 to 36 months as the industry is moving towards a

standard of using lead-free components. We cannot assure you as to the timing of the adoption of this new standard or our ability to successfully redesign our
products to incorporate compliant components and gain market acceptance of such redesigned products. In addition, if the standard is adopted earlier than
anticipated we may experience a shortage of products as a result of potential scarcity of lead-free components.

 
Our business and results of operations could also be seriously harmed by any significant delays in our new product development. Certain of our new

products could contain undetected design faults and software errors or “bugs” when first released by us, despite our testing. We may not discover these faults
or errors until after a product has been installed and used by our customers. Any faults or errors in our existing products or in any new products may cause
delays in product introduction and shipments, require design modifications or harm customer relationships, any of which could adversely affect our business
and competitive position.

 
NEW ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS MAY RESULT IN A DECLINE IN OUR VEHICLE SENSORS NET SALES. From time to

time, environmental regulations are enacted, which can significantly increase the cost of manufacturing new vehicles as well as the cost of maintenance of
existing vehicles and truck fleets.  As a result, we could experience a decline in sales of our Vehicle Sensors products as truck and vehicle manufacturers and
fleet operators attempt to control their costs.

 
WE MAY ENGAGE IN ACQUISITIONS OF COMPANIES OR TECHNOLOGIES THAT MAY REQUIRE US TO UNDERTAKE

SIGNIFICANT CAPITAL INFUSIONS AND COULD RESULT IN DISRUPTIONS OF OUR BUSINESS AND DIVERSION OF RESOURCES
AND MANAGEMENT ATTENTION. We have in the past acquired, and may in the future acquire, complementary businesses, products, and
technologies. Acquisitions may require significant capital infusions and, in general, acquisitions also involve a number of special risks, including:

 
· potential disruption of our ongoing business and the diversion of our resources and management’s attention;
  
· the failure to retain or integrate key acquired personnel;
  
· the challenge of assimilating diverse business cultures, and the difficulties in integrating the operations, technologies and information

system of the acquired companies;
  
· increased costs to improve managerial, operational, financial and administrative systems and to eliminate duplicative services;
  
· the incurrence of unforeseen obligations or liabilities;
  
· potential impairment of relationships with employees or customers as a result of changes in management; and
  
· increased interest expense and amortization of acquired intangible assets.
 
Our competitors are also soliciting potential acquisition candidates, which could both increase the price of any acquisition targets and decrease the

number of attractive companies available for acquisition. Acquisitions may also materially and adversely affect our operating results due to large write-offs,
contingent liabilities, substantial depreciation, deferred compensation charges or intangible asset amortization, or other adverse tax or accounting consequences.
We cannot assure you that we will be able to identify or consummate any additional acquisitions, successfully integrate any acquisitions or realize the benefits
anticipated from any acquisition.
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WE DEPEND UPON VALEO TO MARKET OUR LDW TECHNOLOGIES FOR THE OEM PASSENGER CAR MARKET. We have
granted Valeo the exclusive right to sell and manufacture our LDW system to the worldwide passenger car market in exchange for royalty payments for each
LDW unit sold. As such, the future success and broad market acceptance of our technologies in the passenger car market will depend upon Valeo’s ability to
manufacture market and sell our technologies, and to convince more OEM passenger car manufacturers to adopt our technologies.  To date, we have not
generated significant royalties from Valeo’s efforts and have only been designed into one car OEM product line.  If Valeo does not devote considerable resources
and aggressively pursue opportunities, our expansion into the passenger car market could be adversely affected.

 
IF WE DO NOT KEEP PACE WITH RAPID TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGES AND EVOLVING INDUSTRY STANDARDS, WE

WILL NOT BE ABLE TO REMAIN COMPETITIVE AND THERE WILL BE NO DEMAND FOR OUR PRODUCTS. Our markets are in general
characterized by the following factors:

 
· rapid technological advances;
  
· downward price pressure in the marketplace as technologies mature;
  
· changes in customer requirements;
  
· additional qualification requirements related to new products or components;
  
· frequent new product introductions and enhancements;
  
· inventory issues related to transition to new or enhanced models; and
  
· evolving industry standards and changes in the regulatory environment.
 
Our future success will depend upon our ability to anticipate and adapt to changes in technology and industry standards, and to effectively develop,

introduce, market and gain broad acceptance of new products and product enhancements incorporating the latest technological advancements. In particular,
our LDW systems are incorporated into automobiles and trucks that face significant technological changes in each model year and among different vehicle
models. Accordingly, we must adapt our technology from time to time to function with such changes.

 
OUR INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS OPERATIONS MAY BE THREATENED BY MANY FACTORS THAT ARE OUTSIDE OF OUR

CONTROL. We currently market our products internationally and we anticipate that our international operations will expand in the near future. International
business operations are subject to various inherent risks including, among others:

 
· currency fluctuations and restrictions;
  
· political, social and economic instability;
  
· longer accounts receivable payment cycles;
  
· import and export license requirements and restrictions of the United States and each other country in which we operate;
  
· unexpected changes in regulatory requirements, tariffs and other trade barriers or restrictions;
  
· the burdens of compliance with a wide variety of foreign laws and more restrictive labor laws and obligations;
  
· difficulties in managing and staffing international operations;
  
· potentially adverse tax consequences; and
  
· reduced protection for intellectual property rights in some countries.
 
All of our international sales are denominated in U.S. dollars. As a result, an increase in the relative value of the dollar could make our products

more expensive and potentially less price competitive in international markets. We do not engage in any transactions as a hedge against risks of loss due to
foreign currency fluctuations.
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Any of the factors mentioned above may adversely affect our future international sales and, consequently, affect our business, financial condition
and operating results. Furthermore, as we increase our international sales, our total revenues may also be affected to a greater extent by seasonal fluctuations
resulting from lower sales that typically occur during the summer months in Europe and other parts of the world.

 
IF OUR INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING DO NOT COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE

SARBANES-OXLEY ACT, OUR BUSINESS AND STOCK PRICE COULD BE ADVERSELY AFFECTED.  Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002 currently requires us to evaluate the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting at the end of each fiscal year and to include a
management report assessing the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting in all annual reports. Beginning with Fiscal 2010, our
independent registered public accounting firm will also be required to attest to, and report on, the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting.
We may not be able to complete the work required for such attestation on a timely basis, and even if we timely complete such requirements, our independent
auditors may still conclude that our internal controls over financial reporting are not effective.

 
Our management, including our CEO and CFO, does not expect that our internal controls over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all

fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives
will be met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered
relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues
and instances of fraud, if any, within Iteris have been or will be detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can
be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple errors or mistakes. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by
collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions
about the likelihood of future events, and we cannot assure you that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.
Over time, our controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance with policies or procedures.
Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
 

WE MAY NEED TO RAISE ADDITIONAL CAPITAL IN THE FUTURE, WHICH MAY NOT BE AVAILABLE ON TERMS
ACCEPTABLE TO US, OR AT ALL.  Until recently, we have historically generated significant net losses and operating losses, and have experienced
volatility in our cash flows from operations from year to year. Although we entered into a new $19.5 million credit facility, effective October 2008, should we
have an event of default, which includes, among other things, a failure to meet certain financial covenants and a material adverse change in the business, the
bank could choose to limit or take away our ability to borrow these or any funds.  Should this occur, or if the credit markets further tighten, we may need or
choose to raise additional capital to refinance the remaining debentures, pursue acquisitions or to expand our operations.

 
At March 31, 2009, we had $6.4 million of cash and cash equivalents and our entire $12.0 million line of credit to fund our operations. We may

need to raise additional capital in the near future to fund our operations or to repay indebtedness. Such additional capital may be raised through bank
borrowings, or other debt or equity financings. We cannot assure you that any additional capital will be available on a timely basis, on acceptable terms, or at
all, and such additional financing may result in further dilution to our stockholders.

 
Our capital requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to:
 
· market acceptance of our products and product enhancements, and the overall level of sales of our products;
  
· our ability to control costs;
  
· the supply of key components for our products;
  
· our ability to increase revenue and net income;
  
· increased research and development expenses and sales and marketing expenses;
  
· our need to respond to technological advancements and our competitors’ introductions of new products or technologies;
  
· capital improvements to new and existing facilities and enhancements to our infrastructure and systems;
  
· potential acquisitions of businesses and product lines;
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· our relationships with customers and suppliers;
  
· government budgets, political agendas and other funding issues, including potential delays in government contract awards;
  
· our ability to successfully negotiate credit arrangements with our bank and repay our subordinated convertible debentures; and
  
· general economic conditions, including the effects of the current economic slowdown and international conflicts.
 
If our capital requirements are materially different from those currently planned, we may need additional capital sooner than anticipated. If additional

funds are raised through the issuance of equity or convertible debt securities, the percentage ownership of our stockholders will be reduced and such securities
may have rights, preferences and privileges senior to our common stock. Additional financing may not be available on favorable terms, on a timely basis, or
at all. If adequate funds are not available or are not available on acceptable terms, we may be unable to continue our operations as planned, develop or enhance
our products, expand our sales and marketing programs, take advantage of future opportunities or respond to competitive pressures.

 
OUR QUARTERLY OPERATING RESULTS FLUCTUATE AS A RESULT OF MANY FACTORS. THEREFORE, WE MAY FAIL

TO MEET OR EXCEED THE EXPECTATIONS OF SECURITIES ANALYSTS AND INVESTORS, WHICH COULD CAUSE OUR STOCK
PRICE TO DECLINE. Our quarterly revenues and operating results have fluctuated and are likely to continue to vary from quarter to quarter due to a
number of factors, many of which are not within our control. Factors that could affect our revenues include, among others, the following:

 
· changes in our pricing policies and the pricing policies of our suppliers and competitors, pricing concessions on volume sales, as well as

increased price competition in general;
  
· the long lead times associated with government contracts or required by vehicle manufacturers;
  
· the size, timing, rescheduling or cancellation of significant customer orders;
  
· delays in government contracts and funding from time to time and budgetary constraints at the federal, state and local levels;
  
· declines in new home construction and related road and other infrastructure construction;
  
· our ability to control costs;
  
· our ability to raise additional capital;
  
· the mix of our products and services sold in a quarter, which mix has varied and is expected to continue to vary from time to time;
  
· seasonality due to winter weather conditions;
  
· international conflicts and acts of terrorism;
  
· our ability to develop, introduce, patent, market and gain market acceptance of new products, applications and product enhancements in

a timely manner, or at all;
  
· market acceptance of the products incorporating our technologies and products;
  
· the introduction of new products by competitors;
  
· the availability and cost of components used in the manufacture of our products;
  
· our success in expanding and implementing our sales and marketing programs;
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· the effects of technological changes in our target markets;
  
· the amount of our backlog at any given time;
  
· the nature of our government contracts;
  
· deferrals of customer orders in anticipation of new products, applications or product enhancements;
  
· risks and uncertainties associated with our international business;
  
· currency fluctuations and our ability to get currency out of certain foreign countries; and
  
· general economic and political conditions.
 
Due to all of the factors listed above as well as other unforeseen factors, our future operating results could be below the expectations of securities

analysts or investors. If that happens, the trading price of our common stock could decline. As a result of these quarterly variations, you should not rely on
quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our operating results as an indication of our future performance.

 
WE HAVE EXPERIENCED GROWTH IN RECENT PERIODS. IF WE FAIL TO MANAGE OUR GROWTH EFFECTIVELY, WE

MAY BE UNABLE TO EXECUTE OUR BUSINESS PLAN AND MAY EXPERIENCE FUTURE WEAKNESSES IN OUR INTERNAL
CONTROLS. We have expanded our overall business in the past few years. In order to achieve our business objectives, we will need to continue to expand
our business and add additional qualified personnel. Such expansion has placed and is expected to continue to place, a significant strain on our managerial,
administrative, operational, financial and other resources. If we are unable to successfully manage our growth, our business, financial condition and results of
operations will be adversely affected.

 
WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO ADEQUATELY PROTECT OR ENFORCE OUR INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS, WHICH

COULD HARM OUR COMPETITIVE POSITION. If we are not able to adequately protect or enforce the proprietary aspects of our technology,
competitors could be able to access our proprietary technology and our business, financial condition and results of operations will likely be seriously harmed.
We currently attempt to protect our technology through a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, employee and third party
nondisclosure agreements and similar means. Despite our efforts, other parties may attempt to disclose, obtain or use our technologies or systems. Our
competitors may also be able to independently develop products that are substantially equivalent or superior to our products or design around our patents. In
addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect our proprietary rights as fully as do the laws of the United States. As a result, we may not be able to
protect our proprietary rights adequately in the United States or abroad.

 
Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights or to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of

others. Litigation may also be necessary to defend against claims of infringement or invalidity by others. An adverse outcome in litigation or any similar
proceedings could subject us to significant liabilities to third parties, require us to license disputed rights from others or require us to cease marketing or using
certain products or technologies. We may not be able to obtain any licenses on terms acceptable to us, or at all. We also may have to indemnify certain
customers or strategic partners if it is determined that we have infringed upon or misappropriated another party’s intellectual property. Any of these results
could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the cost of addressing any intellectual property litigation claim,
including legal fees and expenses, and the diversion of management’s attention and resources, regardless of whether the claim is valid, could be significant and
could seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

 
WE HAVE HISTORICALLY EXPERIENCED SUBSTANTIAL LOSSES AND MAY EXPERIENCE LOSSES IN THE FUTURE.

Although we have achieved net income in our past four fiscal years, we experienced a net loss of $11.3 million in the year ended March 31, 2005 and
significant net losses in prior years. We cannot assure you that we will be able to sustain or improve our financial performance, or that we will be able to
continue to achieve profitability on a quarterly or annual basis in the future. Most of our expenses are fixed in advance. As such, we generally are unable to
reduce our expenses significantly in the short-term to compensate for any unexpected delay or decrease in anticipated revenues. As a result, we may continue to
experience operating losses and net losses, which would make it difficult to fund our operations and achieve our business plan, and could cause the market
price of our common stock to decline.

 
THE TRADING PRICE OF OUR COMMON STOCK IS HIGHLY VOLATILE. The trading price of our common stock has been subject to

wide fluctuations in the past. Since February 2001, our Class A common stock (now known as our common stock) has traded at prices as low as $0.45 per
share and as high as $6.12 per share. The market price of our common stock could continue to fluctuate in the future in response to various factors,
including, but not limited to:
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· quarterly variations in operating results;
  
· our ability to control costs, improve cash flow and sustain profitability;
  
· our ability to raise additional capital;
  
· shortages announced by suppliers;
  
· announcements of technological innovations or new products or applications by our competitors, customers or us;
  
· transitions to new products or product enhancements;
  
· acquisitions of businesses, products or technologies;
  
· the impact of any litigation;
  
· changes in investor perceptions;
  
· government funding, political agendas and other budgetary constraints;
  
· changes in earnings estimates or investment recommendations by securities analysts; and
  
· international conflicts, political unrest and acts of terrorism.
 
The stock market in general has from time to time experienced volatility, which has often affected the market prices of equity securities of many

technology companies. This volatility has often been unrelated to the operating performance of these companies. These broad market fluctuations may
adversely affect the market price of our common stock. In the past, companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their securities have been
the subject of securities class action litigation. If we were to become the subject of a class action lawsuit, it could result in substantial losses and divert
management’s attention and resources from other matters.

 
WE COULD EXPERIENCE NEGATIVE FINANCIAL IMPACTS ARISING FROM DEVELOPMENTS IN CONTINGENCIES

CREATED UNDER OUR PREVIOUS STRUCTURE OR BY FORMER SUBSIDIARIES. Although we divested ourselves of all business units prior
to October 2004, from time to time we could experience unforeseen developments in contingencies related to our former subsidiaries. For example, in July 2006
we entered into a settlement agreement in connection with a lawsuit brought against Mariner Networks, Inc., one of our former subsidiaries, by one of
Mariner’s suppliers, pursuant to which we issued 88,912 shares of our common stock to this supplier (valued at $213,000 as of the date of issuance), paid
this supplier $125,000 on October 20, 2006 and are required to pay an additional $350,000 in 36 equal monthly installments of $9,700 through
October 2009. Although we are not aware of any other material contingencies, it is possible other matters could be brought against us in connection with
activities related to former subsidiaries and that such matters could materially and adversely affect our financial results and cash flows.

 
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE COMPANY’S CHARTER DOCUMENTS MAY DISCOURAGE A THIRD PARTY FROM

ACQUIRING US AND MAY ADVERSELY AFFECT THE PRICE OF OUR COMMON STOCK. Certain provisions of our certificate of
incorporation could make it difficult for a third party to acquire us, even though an acquisition might be beneficial to our stockholders. Such provisions could
limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock. Under the terms of our certificate of incorporation, our
Board of Directors is authorized to issue, without stockholder approval, up to 2,000,000 shares of preferred stock with voting, conversion and other rights
and preferences superior to those of our common stock. Our future issuance of preferred stock also could be used to effect a stockholder rights plan, which
could discourage an unsolicited acquisition proposal.

 
ITEM 1B.                UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
 

None.
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ITEM 2.                         PROPERTIES
 

Our headquarters and principal operations are housed in approximately 52,000 square feet of leased space located at 1700 Carnegie Avenue, Santa
Ana, California, for which we currently pay a monthly base lease rate of approximately $105,000, exclusive of certain utility and other costs. The Santa Ana
facility lease expires in 2015 and contains an option to extend the lease for an additional five years at the market rate at that time.

 
For additional information regarding our obligations under property leases, see Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in

Part IV, Item 15 of this report.
 

ITEM 3.                         LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 

The information set forth under the heading “Litigation” under Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Part IV, Item 15 of
this report, is incorporated herein by reference.

 
ITEM 4.                         SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
 

No matters were submitted to a vote of our security holders during the three months ended March 31, 2009.
 

PART II
 
ITEM 5.                         MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES

OF EQUITY SECURITIES
 
Market Information and Holders
 

Our common stock is traded on the NYSE Amex under the symbol “ITI.”  The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low
sales prices for our common stock as reported by NYSE Amex:
 

High Low
Fiscal 2009

Quarter Ended June 30, 2008 $ 2.98 $ 2.14
Quarter Ended September 30, 2008 2.45 1.65
Quarter Ended December 31, 2008 1.83 1.16
Quarter Ended March 31, 2009 1.50 0.98

      
Fiscal 2008

Quarter Ended June 30, 2007 $ 2.66 $ 2.11
Quarter Ended September 30, 2007 2.50 2.00
Quarter Ended December 31, 2007 4.20 2.18
Quarter Ended March 31, 2008 4.06 1.94

 
On June 5, 2009, the last reported sales price of our common stock on the NYSE Amex was $1.39.  As of June 5, 2009, we had 425 holders of

record of our common stock according to information furnished by our transfer agent.
 
Dividend Policy
 

We have never paid or declared cash dividends on our common stock, and have no current plans to pay such dividends in the foreseeable future. We
currently intend to retain any earnings for working capital and general corporate purposes. The payment of any future dividends will be at the discretion of our
Board of Directors and will depend upon a number of factors, including, but not limited to, future earnings, the success of our business, our capital
requirements, our general financial condition and future prospects, general business conditions, the consent of our lender and such other factors as the Board
of Directors may deem relevant.
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ITEM 6.                         SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
 

As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to make any disclosure pursuant to this Item 6.
 
ITEM 7.                         MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 

You should read the following discussion and analysis in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes thereto
included in Part IV, Item 15 of this report and the “Risk Factors” section in Item 1A, as well as other cautionary statements and risks described
elsewhere in this report, before deciding to purchase, hold or sell our common stock.

 
Overview
 

We are a leader in the traffic management market focused on the development and application of advanced technologies that reduce traffic congestion
and improve the safety of surface transportation systems infrastructure. As an added benefit, our products and services minimize the environmental impact of
traffic congestion. By combining outdoor image processing, traffic engineering and information technology, we offer a broad range of ITS and driver safety
solutions to customers worldwide.

 
We currently operate in three reportable segments: Roadway Sensors, Vehicle Sensors, and Transportation Systems. The Roadway Sensors segment

includes our Vantage and VersiCam vehicle detection systems for traffic intersection control, incident detection and certain highway traffic data collection
applications. The Vehicle Sensors segment includes our AutoVue LDW system and is comprised of all activities related to vehicle safety. The Transportation
Systems segment includes transportation engineering and consulting services, and the development of transportation management and traveler information
systems for the ITS industry.

 
Our Roadway Sensors segment product line uses advanced image processing technology to capture and analyze video images through sophisticated

algorithms, enabling vehicle detection and transmission of both video images and data using a wide range of communication technologies.  Our Vantage video
detection systems detect vehicle presence, count, speed, occupancy, and other traffic data used in traffic management systems.  This gives traffic managers
the ability to mitigate roadway congestion by modifying traffic signal timing or detecting incidents quickly.  VersiCam, our integrated camera and processor
video detection system, is a cost-efficient video detection system for smaller intersections that require only a few detection points.  Vantage video detection
systems have been deployed by hundreds of agencies and are currently sold through a network of independent dealers in the United States, Asia, Latin
America, Europe and the Middle East.

 
Our Vehicle Sensors segment addresses the leading cause of roadway fatalities:  rear-end, lane change, and roadway departure accidents.  According

to the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, these three crash types result in about 27,500 of the U.S.’s 42,000 annual traffic fatalities and
contribute to a considerable economic loss due to injuries, property damage, and decreased productivity.

 
Our Vehicle Sensors segment developed the world’s first production LDW system and offers a proven system that is available as an OEM and

aftermarket option on heavy trucks worldwide and as an option in passenger cars.  Our LDW products utilize video detection images to detect when a vehicle
begins to drift toward an unintended lane change.  When this occurs, the unit automatically emits a distinctive rumble strip or other audible warning sound,
alerting the driver to make a correction.  To date, we have sold approximately 69,000 LDW systems into the heavy truck market in Europe, North America
and Asia.  Our LDW systems are currently qualified as an option on certain heavy trucks, including Mercedes-Benz, MAN, Iveco, DAF, Scania, Freightliner
and FUSO, as well as Neoplan and MAN luxury bus and coach lines. In North America, our LDW systems are sold primarily to truck fleets, and to date, 74
U.S. heavy truck fleets have selected our LDW systems, with a combined fleet size estimated at 58,000 vehicles.  Additionally, we have licensed our LDW
technology to our strategic partner, Valeo, resulting in sales to date of approximately 69,000 LDW systems for passenger cars.
 

In addition to our LDW systems, we expanded our Vehicle Sensors portfolio in August 2008 with newly developed technologies such as radar based
Forward Collision Warning and Blind Spot Warning systems for the North American truck market.  We also introduced Safety Direct in March 2008, which
is a system that reports real-time driver performance data captured by our LDW system and that has the ability to relay this information directly to fleet
operators through integration with the truck’s existing fleet communications system.  We offer the FCW and BSW features through the resale of Delphi’s radar
based systems, for which we are the exclusive North American dealer, while Safety Direct was internally developed. These new products, together with our
LDW products, combine to create a broad suite of active safety driver assistance features that help to reduce the number of motor vehicle crashes and the
severity of crash-related injuries.
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Our Transportation Systems segment includes transportation engineering and consulting services focused on the planning, design, development and
implementation of software-based systems that integrate sensors, video surveillance, computers, and advanced communications equipment to enable public
agencies to monitor, control, and direct traffic flow, assist in the quick dispatch of emergency crews and distribute real-time information about traffic
conditions. Our services include planning, design, and implementation of surface transportation infrastructure systems. We perform analysis and study
goods movement, commercial vehicle operations, travel demand forecasting, and systems engineering, and identify mitigation measures to reduce traffic
congestion. These services and systems are primarily sold to local, state, and national transportation agencies in the United States. Our Transportation
Systems segment is largely dependent upon governmental funding and budgetary issues. The Federal Highway Bill that was passed in August 2005 provided
for a significant increase in transportation funding. We believe the recent expansion of our Transportation Systems segment was due in part to the passage of
the Federal Highway Bill, combined with increased transportation funds available at state and local agencies throughout the country.  The 2005 Federal
Highway Bill is set to expire in September 2009.  At this point in time, the impact on future contract revenues as a result of the recently introduced federal
stimulus package and any potential delays in the passage of future transportation bills cannot be determined.

 
During Fiscal 2009, we introduced certain products including VersiCam, EdgeConnect and Safety Direct. We also completed the acquisition of

certain assets of Hamilton Signal including the Abacus system for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $518,000. This acquisition should afford us
with the opportunity to provide our customers with traffic and incident detection data from our installed base of surveillance cameras.
 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is based on our consolidated financial statements included
herein, which have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”). The preparation of these
financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and related disclosures
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. On an
ongoing basis, we evaluate these estimates and assumptions, including those related to the collectibility of accounts receivable, the valuation of inventories, the
recoverability of long-lived assets and goodwill, the realizability of deferred tax assets, accounting for stock-based compensation, the valuation of equity
instruments, warranty reserves and other contingencies. We base these estimates on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. These estimates and assumptions by their nature involve risks and uncertainties, and may prove to be inaccurate. In the
event that any of our estimates or assumptions are inaccurate in any material respect, it could have a material adverse effect on our reported amounts of assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.

 
The following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial

statements.
 
Revenue Recognition. We record product revenues and related costs of sales upon transfer of title, which is generally upon shipment or, if required,

upon acceptance by the customer, provided that we believe collectibility of the net sales amount is reasonably assured.  Accordingly, at the date revenue is
recognized, the significant uncertainties concerning the sale have been resolved.

 
Contract revenues are derived primarily from long-term contracts with governmental agencies. Contract revenues include costs incurred plus a

portion of estimated fees or profits determined using the percentage of completion method of accounting based on the relationship of costs incurred to total
estimated costs. Any anticipated losses on contracts are charged to earnings when identified. Changes in job performance and estimated profitability, including
those arising from contract penalty provisions and final contract settlements, may result in revisions to recognized costs and revenues and are recognized in the
period in which the revisions are determined. Profit incentives are included in revenue when their realization is reasonably assured.

 
In addition to product and contract revenues, we derive revenue from technology access fees, the provision of specific non-recurring contract engineering

services to our strategic partner, Valeo, related to our LDW systems, and royalties earned on unit sales of our LDW systems by Valeo to the passenger car
market. Technology access fee revenues are recognized evenly over the period in which they are earned. Non-recurring contract engineering revenues are
recognized in the period in which the related services are performed. Royalty revenues are recorded based on unit sales of our products by Valeo and are
recognized in the period in which such sales occur. Technology access fee revenues, non-recurring contract engineering revenues and royalty revenues are
included in net sales.

 
Revenues from follow-on service and support, for which we generally charge separately, are recorded in the period in which the services are

performed.
 
Accounts Receivable. We estimate the collectibility of customer receivables on an ongoing basis by periodically reviewing invoices outstanding

greater than a certain period of time. We record reserves for receivables deemed to be at risk for collection as well as a general reserve based on our historical
collections experience. A considerable amount of judgment is required in assessing
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the ultimate realization of trade receivables, including the current credit-worthiness of each customer. If the financial condition of our customers deteriorates,
resulting in an impairment of their ability to make required payments, additional allowances may be required that could adversely affect our operating results.

 
Inventory. Inventories consist of finished goods, work-in-process and raw materials and are stated at the lower of cost or market. We provide reserves

for potentially excess and obsolete inventory. In assessing the ultimate realization of inventories, we make judgments as to future demand requirements and
compare that with the current or committed inventory levels. Reserves are established for inventory levels that exceed anticipated future demand. It is possible
that reserves over and above those already established may be required in the future if market conditions for our products deteriorate.

 
Goodwill. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually in our fourth fiscal quarter at the reporting unit level unless a change in circumstances

indicates that more frequent impairment analysis is required. Impairment, if any, is measured based on the estimated fair value of the reporting units with the
recorded goodwill. Fair value is determined by using the income approach methodology of valuation which utilizes discounted cash flows taking into
consideration the market approach. The estimated fair value of our reporting units also includes a control premium, which is the amount that a buyer is
willing to pay over the current market price of a company as indicated by the traded price per share (i.e., market capitalization), in order to acquire a
controlling interest. Significant management judgment is required in the forecasts of future operating results that are used in the discounted cash flow method
of valuation. In estimating future cash flows, we generally use the financial assumptions in our current budget and our current strategic plan, subject to
modification as considered necessary, including sales and expense growth rates and the discount rates we estimate to represent our cost of funds. It is possible,
however, that the plans and estimates used may be incorrect. If our actual results, or the plans and estimates used in future impairment analyses, are lower
than the original estimates used to assess the recoverability of goodwill, we could incur impairment charges.

 
Warranty. We generally provide a one to three year warranty from the original invoice date on all products, materials and workmanship. Defective

products are either repaired or replaced, at our option, upon meeting certain criteria. We accrue a provision for the estimated costs that may be incurred for
product warranties relating to a product as a component of cost of sales at the time revenue for that product is recognized. The accrued warranty provision is
included within accrued expenses on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Should our actual experience of warranty returns be higher than
anticipated, additional warranty reserves may be required, which may adversely affect our operating results.

 
Income Taxes. On a quarterly basis, we assess the likelihood that our deferred tax asset balance will be recovered from future taxable income.

Realization of deferred tax assets (such as net operating loss carryforwards) is dependent on future taxable earnings and is therefore uncertain. To the extent we
believe that recovery is not likely, we establish a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets to amounts that we believe are more likely than not to be
realized, which increases our income tax expense in the period such determination is made.

 
On an interim basis, we estimate what our anticipated annual effective tax rate will be and record a quarterly income tax provision in accordance with

this anticipated rate. As the fiscal year progresses, we refine our estimates based upon actual events and earnings during the year. This estimation process can
result in significant changes to our expected effective tax rate. When this occurs, we adjust the income tax provision during the quarter in which the change in
estimate occurs so that the year-to-date provision reflects the expected annual rate. The changes described in the preceding sentence and adjustments to our
valuation allowance may create fluctuations in our overall effective tax rate from quarter to quarter.

 
Effective April 1, 2007, we adopted the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for

Uncertainty in Income Taxes – an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (“FIN 48”), which applies to all tax positions accounted for under Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes (“SFAS 109”).  FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in
income taxes by establishing minimum standards for the recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Under the
requirements of FIN 48, we must review all of our tax positions and make a determination as to whether our position is more-likely-than-not to be sustained
upon examination by regulatory authorities. If a tax position meets the more-likely-than-not standard, then the related tax benefit is measured based on a
cumulative probability analysis of the amount that is more-likely-than-not to be realized upon ultimate settlement or disposition of the underlying issue.

 
The application of tax laws and regulations is subject to legal and factual interpretation, judgment and uncertainty. Tax laws and regulations

themselves are subject to change as a result of changes in fiscal policy, changes in legislation, the evolution of regulations and court rulings. Therefore, the
actual liability for U.S. or foreign taxes may be materially different from our estimates, which could result in the need to record additional tax liabilities or
potentially reverse previously recorded tax liabilities.

 
Stock-Based Compensation .  We adopted SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (“SFAS 123R”), effective April 1, 2006.  SFAS

123R requires all stock-based payments, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the statement of operations as an expense, based on
their grant date fair values with such fair values amortized over the requisite service

 
17



Table of Contents
 

period.  We elected to utilize the modified prospective method for the transition to SFAS 123R. Under the modified prospective method, SFAS 123R applies to
all awards granted or modified after the date of adoption. In addition, under the modified prospective method, compensation expense will be recognized for all
stock-based compensation awards granted prior to but not yet vested as of April 1, 2006, based on grant-date fair values estimated in accordance with the
original provisions of SFAS 123.

 
In implementing SFAS 123R, we have used the Black-Scholes-Merton (“BSM”) option-pricing formula to estimate the fair value of stock-based

awards granted subsequent to April 1, 2006.  While this model meets the requirements of SFAS 123R, the estimated fair values generated by it may not be
indicative of the actual fair values of our stock-based awards as it does not consider certain factors important to those awards to employees, such as continued
employment and periodic vesting requirements as well as limited transferability.  Our assumptions under the BSM formula include the following:  (i) expected
volatilities are based on the historical volatility of our stock price, (ii) the expected life of options is derived based on the historical life of our options, (iii) the
risk-free rate for periods within the expected life of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury interest rates in effect at the time of grant and (iv) the dividend
yield assumption is based on our history and expectation of dividend payouts.  Additionally, SFAS 123 did not require the estimation of forfeitures in the
calculation of stock compensation expense; however, SFAS 123R does require such estimation and upon adoption of SFAS 123R, we changed our
methodology to include an estimate of forfeitures.  Future stock-based compensation expense in any particular quarter or year could be affected by changes in
our assumptions, changes in market conditions, or to the extent that we grant additional stock-based awards. Additionally, if there are any modifications or
cancellations of the underlying unvested stock-based awards, we may be required to accelerate, increase or cancel any remaining unearned stock-based
compensation expense.
 
Results of Operations
 

The following table sets forth certain statement of operations data as a percentage of total net sales and contract revenues for the periods indicated.
The following table should be read in conjunction with Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
 

Year Ended March 31,
2009 2008 2007

        
Net sales and contract revenues:

Net sales 55.4% 61.9% 62.2%
Contract revenues 44.6 38.1 37.8

Total net sales and contract revenues 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Costs of net sales and contract revenues:

Cost of net sales 29.3 31.5 34.0
Cost of contract revenues 30.4 25.1 24.8

Gross profit 40.3 43.4 41.2
Operating expenses:

Selling, general and administrative 26.0 26.5 27.5
Research and development 5.8 5.5 6.9
Amortization of intangible assets 0.2 0.2 0.3

Total operating expenses 32.0 32.2 34.6
Operating income 8.2 11.2 6.6
Non-operating income (expense):

Other income (expense), net 0.2 0.4 (1.1)
Interest expense, net (0.9) (2.0) (2.7)

Income before income taxes 7.5 9.6 2.7
Income tax benefit 7.6 9.1 2.3
Net income 15.1% 18.7% 5.0%
 
Analysis of Fiscal 2009, Fiscal 2008 and Fiscal 2007 Results of Operations
 

Net Sales and Contract Revenues . Net sales are comprised of product sales from our Roadway Sensors and Vehicle Sensors segments, as well as
technology access fees, contract engineering revenue and royalty revenue generated from our Vehicle Sensors segment.  Contract revenues consist entirely of
Transportation Systems contract revenues, which are generated from systems integration and ITS consulting services primarily with federal, state, county
and municipal agencies.
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The following tables present details of our net sales and contract revenues for Fiscal 2009 compared to Fiscal 2008 and Fiscal 2008 compared to

Fiscal 2007, respectively:
 

Fiscal Fiscal Increase %
2009 2008 (Decrease) Change

(In thousands, except percentages)
Roadway sensors $ 27,197 $ 28,452 (1,255) (4.4)%
Vehicle sensors 11,230 11,874 (644) (5.4)
Net sales 38,427 40,326 (1,899) (4.7)
Contract revenues 30,932 24,837 6,095 24.5
Total net sales and contract revenues $ 69,359 $ 65,163 $ 4,196 6.4

 
Fiscal Fiscal %
2008 2007 Increase Change

(In thousands, except percentages)
Roadway sensors $ 28,452 $ 27,261 1,191 4.4%
Vehicle sensors 11,874 8,987 2,887 32.1
Net sales 40,326 36,248 4,078 11.3
Contract revenues 24,837 22,049 2,788 12.6
Total net sales and contract revenues $ 65,163 $ 58,297 $ 6,866 11.8

 
We currently have a diverse customer base with no individual customer representing greater than 10% of our total net sales and contract revenues for

Fiscal 2009 or 2008, and one customer representing approximately 12.4% of our net sales and contract revenues in Fiscal 2007.
 

Roadway Sensors
 
The majority of Roadway Sensors net sales were derived from sales within North America.  The decrease in Roadway Sensors net sales in Fiscal

2009 as compared to Fiscal 2008 was mainly due to reduced and delayed spending on infrastructure projects as a result of the decline in commercial and
residential construction, as well as local government budgetary pressures. We expect the above factors, among others, may continue to adversely impact our
Roadway Sensors net sales for at least the next few fiscal quarters. The increase in net sales in Fiscal 2008 as compared to Fiscal 2007 primarily reflects the
continued adoption of video vehicle detection technology, such as the technology offered by our Vantage line of products, both domestically and internationally.

 
Vehicle Sensors
 
The largest element of Vehicle Sensors net sales was sales of our LDW systems to the heavy truck market, which aggregated approximately $9.9

million in Fiscal 2009, $10.0 million in Fiscal 2008 and $6.4 million in Fiscal 2007.  Vehicle Sensors net sales decreased slightly in Fiscal 2009 as compared
to Fiscal 2008 primarily due to a significant slowdown in overall LDW unit shipments to each of our key markets in the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2009. The
increase in Fiscal 2008 net sales of Vehicle Sensors products, as compared to Fiscal 2007, was primarily a result of increased unit sales of our LDW systems
to European and Asian OEMs.

 
Recently, we have experienced softness in our LDW unit sales to the North American truck market and to our European and Asian OEM customers,

which was driven largely by the general slowdown in the U.S. and worldwide credit markets and continued weakness in the overall global economy.  We
expect declining LDW unit sales for the first quarter of Fiscal 2010 due to these and other macroeconomic conditions.  Additionally, Vehicle Sensors unit sales
in Fiscal 2010 and beyond could also be adversely impacted by slower than expected adoption rates of our LDW system by European and Asian OEMs and
North American heavy truck fleets, as well as potential additional OEM volume discounts resulting from increased price competition as new competitors have
entered this market.  Additionally, certain recent environmental regulations in Europe and North America have substantially increased the cost of new
commercial trucks, which could impact future truck sales volumes and, ultimately, unit sales of our LDW systems.

 
Also included in Vehicle Sensors net sales are revenues from contract engineering services, technology access fees and royalty revenues in the

passenger car market that are derived from our strategic relationship with Valeo, which aggregated approximately $1.3 million, $1.9 million and $2.6 million
in Fiscal 2009, Fiscal 2008 and Fiscal 2007, respectively.  The total revenues for Fiscal 2007 included certain technology access fee revenue of $500,000 that
did not recur in either Fiscal 2008 or 2009.  Royalty revenues from Valeo for sales of our LDW systems for the passenger car market were relatively
insignificant in Fiscal 2009, Fiscal 2008 and Fiscal 2007.  Our LDW systems are now offered as an option on three Infiniti models.  While Valeo is promoting
our LDW systems to other passenger car OEMs, we cannot assure you that Valeo will be successful in these efforts.
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Contract Revenues
 
Contract revenues are primarily dependent upon the continued availability of funding at both the state and federal levels from the various

departments of transportation.  The Fiscal 2009 increase in contract revenues was largely a result of our increased sales and marketing activity across the
U.S., resulting in certain significant new contracts that were awarded to us during the current fiscal year. Certain of these new contracts contained a higher
than usual amount of sub-consulting content, which was primarily concentrated in our contract revenues in the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2009. The Fiscal 2008
increase in contract revenues was largely due to increased funding at the federal, state and local levels throughout the country, as well as new contract awards. 
At the end of Fiscal 2009, our Transportation Systems segment’s staff levels approximated those of the prior year-end; however, in response to the growth we
have experienced in our Transportation Systems segment over the last several years, we increased this segment’s staff by 21% in Fiscal 2008 and 16% in
Fiscal 2007.  We believe the ability of our Transportation Systems business to grow and successfully win and service new contracts will be highly dependent
upon our continued success in recruiting and retaining qualified personnel.  All of our contract revenues are derived from work performed in North America
under a broad range of fixed price and cost plus fixed fee contracts.
 

Gross Profit. The following tables present details of our gross profit for Fiscal 2009 compared to Fiscal 2008 and Fiscal 2008 compared to Fiscal
2007, respectively:

 
Fiscal Fiscal %
2009 2008 Decrease Change

(In thousands, except percentages)
Total gross profit $ 27,919 $ 28,297 $ (378) (1.3)%
Total gross profit as a % of total net sales and contract

revenues 40.3% 43.4%
Gross profit as a % of net sales 47.1% 49.2%
Gross profit as a % of contract revenues 31.8% 34.1%

 
Fiscal Fiscal %
2008 2007 Increase Change

(In thousands, except percentages)
Total gross profit $ 28,297 $ 24,008 $ 4,289 17.9%
Total gross profit as a % of total net sales and contract

revenues 43.4% 41.2%
Gross profit as a % of net sales 49.2% 45.3%
Gross profit as a % of contract revenues 34.1% 34.4%

 
The decrease in gross profit as a percent of net sales in Fiscal 2009 as compared to Fiscal 2008 was primarily a result of decreased gross profit in

Roadway Sensors and was primarily driven by our customer mix. Roadway Sensors net sales were weighted more toward dealer than direct sales in Fiscal
2009. We generally enjoy higher gross margins on direct sales as compared to dealer and aftermarket sales.  The increase in gross profit as a percentage of net
sales in Fiscal 2008 as compared to Fiscal 2007 was a result of a favorable sales mix in terms of both geography and product mix, as well as improved
production efficiencies.  Gross profit as a percentage of net sales also improved in Fiscal 2008 through the expansion of our Vehicle Sensors customer base,
which helped mitigate the impact of lower contractual pricing to our largest European customer.  Gross profit as a percentage of net sales can fluctuate in any
specific quarter or year based on, among other factors, customer and product mix, competitive pricing requirements, product warranty costs and provisions
for excess and obsolete inventories, as well as possible shifts of engineering resources from development activities to sustaining activities, which we record as
cost of goods sold.

 
We recognize contract revenues and related gross profit using percentage of completion contract accounting, and the underlying mix of contract

activity affects the related gross profit recognized in any given period. The decreases in gross profit as a percent of contract revenues in Fiscal 2009 compared
to Fiscal 2008 and Fiscal 2008 compared to Fiscal 2007 primarily reflect a contract mix weighted more toward lower margin contracts in those periods.  Lower
margin contracts generally have a higher proportion of sub-consulting revenues associated with them. We experienced an abnormally high level of sub-
consulting content related to certain new contracts during the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2009, which contributed both to the overall increase in contract revenues,
as described above, as well as the decrease in our gross profit. For the first quarter of Fiscal 2010, we do not expect similar levels of sub-consulting content;
however, due to the variability and timing of our contracts, we may experience higher than usual sub-consulting content in future periods.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expense
 
The following table presents selling, general and administrative expense for Fiscal 2009 and 2008:
 

Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2008
% of Net % of Net
Sales and Sales and
Contract Contract Increase %

Amount Revenues Amount Revenues (Decrease) Change
(In thousands, except percentages)

Salary and personnel-related $ 11,949 17.2% $ 10,916 16.8% $ 1,033 9.5%
Facilities, insurance and supplies 2,378 3.4 2,254 3.5 124 5.5
Professional and outside services 1,302 1.9 1,734 2.7 (432) (24.9)
Travel and conferences 1,563 2.3 1,323 2.0 240 18.1
Other 843 1.2 1,062 1.6 (219) (20.6)
Selling, general and administrative $ 18,035 26.0% $ 17,289 26.5% $ 746 4.3
 
The overall increase in selling, general and administrative expenses in Fiscal 2009 was primarily driven by higher selling expenses in our

Transportation Systems segment as a result of a shift in certain of our labor resources from project-related activities to sales and marketing efforts, aimed at
capturing additional contract backlog. This resulted in an increase in this segment’s sales and marketing expenses to $2.8 million for Fiscal 2009 compared to
$2.0 million for Fiscal 2008. Our professional and outside services expenses decreased in Fiscal 2009 primarily due to our efforts to conserve costs and scale
back our usage of certain outside and professional services, as well as various efficiencies gained in our internal control assessment and other financial
reporting obligations in the current year. In Fiscal 2010, we will be subject to the requirement that our independent registered public accounting firm provide an
attestation on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, for which we expect additional increases in our general and administrative
expenses.
 

The following table presents selling, general and administrative expense for Fiscal 2008 and 2007:
 

Fiscal 2008 Fiscal 2007
% of Net % of Net
Sales and Sales and
Contract Contract Increase %

Amount Revenues Amount Revenues (Decrease) Change
(In thousands, except percentages)

Salary and personnel-related $ 10,916 16.8% $ 10,024 17.2% $ 892 8.9%
Facilities, insurance and supplies 2,254 3.5 2,101 3.6 153 7.3
Professional and outside services 1,734 2.7 1,764 3.0 (30) (1.7)
Travel and conferences 1,323 2.0 1,250 2.1 73 5.8
Other 1,062 1.6 864 1.5 198 22.9
Selling, general and administrative $ 17,289 26.5% $ 16,003 27.5% $ 1,286 8.0
 
The increase in selling, general and administrative expense in Fiscal 2008 compared to Fiscal 2007 was largely attributable to higher commissions

and selling expenses driven by sales growth in our Roadway Sensors segment, as well as general and administrative expenses incurred related to our efforts to
comply with the internal control assessment and reporting requirements.
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Research and Development Expense
 
The following table presents research and development expense for Fiscal 2009 and 2008:
 

Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2008
% of Net % of Net
Sales and Sales and
Contract Contract Increase %

Amount Revenues Amount Revenues (Decrease) Change
(In thousands, except percentages)

Salary and personnel-related $ 2,748 4.0% $ 2,294 3.5% $ 454 19.8%
Facilties, development and supplies 1,018 1.5 1,019 1.6 (1) (0.1)
Other 264 0.4 253 0.4 11 4.3
Research and development $  4,030 5.8% $ 3,566 5.5% $ 464 13.0
 
The increase in research and development expense in Fiscal 2009 compared to Fiscal 2008 was primarily due to increased research and development

activities in Roadway Sensors aimed at accelerating the time to market of certain new products. We believe research and development activities are crucial to
our ability to continue to be a leader in our markets.
 

The following table presents research and development expense for Fiscal 2008 and 2007:
 

Fiscal 2008 Fiscal 2007
% of Net % of Net
Sales and Sales and
Contract Contract Increase %

Amount Revenues Amount Revenues (Decrease) Change
(In thousands, except percentages)

Salary and personnel-related $ 2,294 3.5% $ 2,265 3.9% $ 29 1.3%
Facilties, development and supplies 1,019 1.6 1,474 2.5 (455) (30.9)
Other 253 0.4 291 0.5 (38) (13.1)
Research and development $  3,566 5.5% $ 4,030 6.9% $ (464) (11.5)
 
The decrease in research and development expense in Fiscal 2008 compared to Fiscal 2007 was primarily due to reduced research and development

activities in Vehicle Sensors as many of our significant truck OEM customers now have production LDW units that only require minimal further
development and the majority of our passenger car research and development efforts are funded by our strategic partner, Valeo.  This decreased spending was
partially offset by increased research and development spending in Roadway Sensors.
 

For competitive reasons, we closely guard the confidentiality of specific development projects.
 
Other Income (Expense), Net
 
The following table presents other income (expense), net for Fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007:

 
Year Ended March 31,

2009 2008 2007
(In thousands)

Net gain on early extinguishment of debt $ 50 $ 224 $ —
Settlement of lawsuits — — (635)
Other 6 6 28 (18)

Other income (expense), net $ 116 $ 252 $ (653)
 
Other income, net in Fiscal 2009 includes the net gain of $50,000 we recognized in connection with the early retirement of $7.0 million of convertible

debentures, as well as certain net foreign currency gains and other miscellaneous income. Other income, net in Fiscal 2008 primarily reflects the net gain of
$224,000 we recognized in connection with the early retirement of $2.1 million of convertible debentures. See Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional discussion regarding the early retirement of our convertible debentures.  Other expense, net in Fiscal 2007 primarily reflects
$635,000 of expense recorded in connection with the settlement of litigation in July 2006, which is discussed further in Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.
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Interest Expense, Net
 
The following table presents interest expense, net for Fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007:

 
Year Ended March 31,

2009 2008 2007
(In thousands)

Interest expense $ (651) $ (1,285) $ (1,601)
Interest income 5 1 1

Interest expense, net $ (646) $ (1,284) $ (1,600)
 

Interest expense, net decreased 49.7% in Fiscal 2009 compared to Fiscal 2008 and decreased 19.8% in Fiscal 2008 compared to Fiscal 2007
primarily due to our lower overall level of borrowings, lower interest rates and also as a result of the early retirement of certain of our convertible debentures, as
discussed above.

 
Income Taxes
 
The following table presents our benefit for income taxes for Fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007:
 

Year Ended March 31,
2009 2008 2007

(In thousands, except percentages)

Income tax benefit $ 5,297 $ 5,900 $ 1,343
Effective tax rate (102.3)% (94.2)% (85.3)%
 
The income tax benefits recorded in Fiscal 2009, Fiscal 2008 and Fiscal 2007 were primarily the result of a decrease in the valuation allowance

recorded against our deferred tax assets as a result of changes in estimates of the future realizability of these assets.  As we update our estimates in future
periods, adjustments to our deferred tax asset and valuation allowance may be necessary. We anticipate this will cause our future overall effective tax rate in
any given period to fluctuate from prior effective tax rates and statutory tax rates. We utilize the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes as set
forth in SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes.  We record net deferred tax assets to the extent that we believe these assets will more likely than not be
realized. In making such determination, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including, but not limited to, scheduled reversals of deferred
tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies and recent financial performance.

 
At March 31, 2009, we had $40.8 million of federal net operating loss carryforwards and $18.4 million of state net operating loss carryforwards that

begin to expire in 2019 and 2013, respectively. Due to changes in stock ownership, our federal net operating loss carryforwards are subject to a Section 382
limitation estimated at approximately $7.8 million annually which can be utilized to offset federal consolidated taxable income.  Although the impact cannot be
precisely determined, we believe that our net operating loss carryforwards will cause us to have future income tax payments and income tax expense that are
substantially lower than the income tax liability and income tax expense calculated using statutory tax rates.
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

Cash Flows
 
We have historically financed our operations with a combination of cash flows from operations, borrowings under credit facilities and the sale of

equity securities. We currently rely on cash flows from operations and the availability of borrowings on a line of credit facility to fund our operations, which
we believe to be sufficient to fund our operations for at least the next twelve months.  At March 31, 2009, we had $20.6 million in working capital, which
included no borrowings on our $12.0 million line of credit and $6.4 million in cash and cash equivalents, as compared to working capital of $14.9 million at
March 31, 2008.
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The following table summarizes our cash flows for Fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007:
 

Year Ended March 31,
2009 2008 2007

(In thousands)
Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ 6,390 $ 7,579 (2,049)
Investing activities (795) (739) (488)
Financing activities 413 (6,454) 2,441
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 6,008 $ 386 $ (96)
 
Operating Activities.  Cash provided by our operations in Fiscal 2009 was primarily the result of our Fiscal 2009 net income of $10.5 million

adjusted for certain non-cash items within the statement of operations, primarily adjustments to our deferred tax balances and depreciation and stock-based
compensation expenses.
 

Our net accounts receivable decreased approximately $700,000 from March 31, 2008 to March 31, 2009 due primarily to lower product sales in the
fourth quarter of Fiscal 2009 as compared to the corresponding quarter in the prior year. Additionally, our net costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings
decreased approximately $1.5 million over the same period, primarily as a result of improved timeliness of billings in our Transportation Systems segment
during Fiscal 2009. If, in the longer term, our net sales and contract revenues increase, it is likely that both our accounts receivable and net costs and
estimated earnings in excess of billings balances will also increase. Our accounts receivable could also increase if customers delay their payments or if we
grant extended payment terms to customers, both of which are more likely to occur during challenging economic times when our customers may face issues
gaining sufficient credit on a timely basis.
 

Inventories increased approximately $1.5 million from March 31, 2008 to March 31, 2009 due primarily to a decrease in product sales, the
introduction of new products by our Roadway Sensors segment and the acquisition of certain components because they have been discontinued by the
manufacturer. In the future, our inventory levels are likely to continue to be determined based upon, among other factors, the level of purchase orders we
receive, the stage at which our products are in their respective product life cycles, and competitive situations in the marketplace. We attempt to balance such
considerations against risk of obsolescence or potentially excess inventory levels.

 
Cash provided by our operations in Fiscal 2008 was primarily a result of our Fiscal 2008 net income of $12.2 million and $1.6 million in net cash

provided by changes in operating assets and liabilities, partially offset by approximately $6.2 million in net non-cash items within the statement of
operations.  During Fiscal 2007, cash used in operations was primarily a result of investments in inventory due to sales growth and longer lead times in
procuring certain components, and an increased level of net costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings due to sales growth and the timing of invoicing
on contracts in our Transportation Systems segment.  These were partially offset by our Fiscal 2007 net income of $2.9 million.

 
Investing Activities.  Investing activities for Fiscal 2009, Fiscal 2008 and Fiscal 2007 each consisted primarily of purchases of certain property and

equipment.
 
Financing Activities.  Net cash provided by financing activities in Fiscal 2009 was the result of $900,000 in cash inflows from the exercise of stock

options to purchase our common stock, partially offset by net payments on our borrowings of $500,000. Net cash used in financing activities in Fiscal 2008
was the result of net payments on our borrowings of $8.0 million, partially offset by cash inflows of $1.5 million from the exercise of outstanding stock
options and warrants to purchase our common stock.  During Fiscal 2007, net cash provided by financing activities was the result of cash inflows of $3.6
million from the exercise of outstanding stock options and warrants to purchase our common stock, of which approximately $2.0 million was raised through
the exercise of outstanding warrants to purchase an aggregate of 1,250,000 shares of our common stock. These cash inflows were partially offset by net
payments on our borrowings of $1.2 million.

 
Borrowings
 
The following table summarizes our borrowings and long-term debt:

 
March 31,

2009
(In thousands)

Convertible debentures, net $ 750
Bank term note 6,543

$ 7,293
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Prior to October 16, 2008, we had a credit facility with a bank that provided for line of credit borrowings of up to $10.0 million. Under this credit
facility, we could borrow against our eligible accounts receivable and eligible inventory, as defined in the credit agreement. Interest on borrowed amounts under
the line of credit was payable monthly at the current stated prime rate plus 1.00%. Additionally, we were obligated to pay an unused line fee of 0.25% per
annum applied to the amount by which the maximum credit amount exceeded the average daily principal balance during the preceding month. The credit
facility required $2,000 in monthly collateral management fees and included an early termination fee equal to 2% of the total facility during the first year of the
agreement and 1% of the total facility in the second year of the agreement. The credit facility was secured by substantially all of our assets.  This credit facility
expired on October 15, 2008.

 
Effective October 16, 2008, we entered into a new $19.5 million credit facility with a different bank (California Bank & Trust) which replaced our

existing credit facility.  This new credit facility provides for a two-year revolving line of credit with borrowings of up to $12.0 million and a $7.5 million 48-
month term note (discussed below).  Interest on borrowed amounts under the revolving line of credit will be payable monthly at a rate equal to the current stated
prime rate up to the current stated prime rate plus 0.50%, depending on aggregate deposit balances maintained at the bank in relation to the total loan
commitment under the credit facility (3.75% at March 31, 2009).  We are obligated to pay an unused line fee of 0.25% per annum applied to the average
unused portion of the revolving line of credit during the preceding month.  The revolving line of credit does not contain any early termination fees and is
secured by substantially all of our assets.  As of March 31, 2009, no amounts were borrowed under the revolving line of credit portion of the facility.

 
Additionally, as part of this new credit facility and in connection with the early retirement of $7.0 million of our convertible debentures, as of

March 31, 2009 we have borrowed $6.5 million under the $7.5 million 48-month term note to retire such outstanding debentures. In May 2009, we borrowed
an additional $750,000 under the term note to pay off the remaining convertible debentures of the same amount. Principal payments under this term note are
required to be repaid in 48 monthly installments commencing on June 1, 2009. Interest on the term note will be payable monthly at a rate equal to the current
stated prime rate plus 0.50% up to the current stated prime rate plus 1.00%, depending on aggregate deposit balances maintained at the bank in relation to the
total loan commitment under the credit facility.  In October 2008, we paid an upfront loan commitment fee of $28,000 in connection with the term note portion
of the credit facility.  The term note contains no early termination fees and, along with our revolving line of credit discussed above, is secured by substantially
all of our assets.

 
In connection with our credit facility and loan agreement with California Bank & Trust, we are also required to comply with certain quarterly

financial covenants. These include achieving certain ratios for working capital and debt service, as well as maintaining a level of profitability, all of which are
further defined in the agreement. While we are currently in compliance with all financial covenants and expect to maintain compliance for the foreseeable
future, we cannot assure that we will not violate one or more covenants in the future. If we were to be in violation of covenants under this agreement, our lender
could choose to accelerate payment on all outstanding loan balances. In this event, there can be no assurances that we would be able to quickly obtain
equivalent or suitable replacement financing. If we were not able to secure alternative sources of financing, such acceleration would have a material adverse
impact on our financial condition.

 
On February 4, 2009 we entered into an Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement with California Bank & Trust which supersedes the

agreements entered into on October 16, 2008 in their entirety. The October 16, 2008 documents were amended and restated to clarify certain ambiguities and
remove non-applicable language.  No modifications were made to any significant provisions related to the overall amount of the credit facility, interest rate
calculations, or any financial or non-financial covenant.
 
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
 

In May 2004, we issued subordinated convertible debentures in an aggregate original principal amount of $10.1 million. These debentures were due
in full on May 19, 2009 and were convertible into shares of our common stock at a conversion price of $3.61 per share. At March 31, 2009, convertible
debentures in an aggregate principal amount of $750,000 remained outstanding, and were subsequently paid off in full on May 19, 2009. Because these
debentures were conventionally convertible, we have not separately accounted for the conversion feature and, accordingly, no separate amounts are presented in
our consolidated financial statements in connection with this conversion feature.

 
At March 31, 2009, outstanding warrants to purchase an aggregate of 246,250 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $3.25 per share

are callable by us if the market price of our common stock trades for 20 consecutive days at a price equal to or greater than two times the exercise price of the
warrants. Outstanding warrants to purchase an aggregate of 75,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $5.00 per share are callable by us if the
market price of our common stock trades for 20 consecutive days at a price equal to or greater than one and a half times the exercise price of the warrants.
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In connection with the issuance of warrants to purchase 246,250 shares of our common stock at $3.25 per share, we are a party to a registration
rights agreement that contains provisions under which we could be subjected to liquidated damages should we fail to maintain effective registration statements
for the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of certain underlying warrants. These warrants have been accounted for within equity in our
consolidated balance sheets in accordance with EITF Issue No. 00-19, Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially Settled
in, a Company’s Own Stock, and, accordingly, no liabilities have been recorded in connection therewith. As of the date of this filing, no liquidated damages
are payable under the provisions of the registration rights agreement associated with these warrants.

 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, (“SFAS 157”), which defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosure about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 does not require any new fair value measurements;
rather it specifies valuation methods to be applied when fair value measurements are required under existing or future accounting pronouncements. SFAS 157
is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and interim periods within those fiscal years. In February 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff
Position (“FSP”) 157-2, Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157 (“FSP 157-2”), which delays the effective date of SFAS 157 for non-financial assets and
liabilities to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008. Generally, SFAS 157 will be applied prospectively. With respect to financial assets and
liabilities, we adopted SFAS 157 in the first quarter of Fiscal 2009. There was no material impact on our consolidated financial statements. We are currently
evaluating the impact of SFAS 157 and FSP 157-2 with respect to our non-financial assets and liabilities and expect to adopt SFAS 157 and FSP 157-2 with
respect to these assets and liabilities in the first quarter of Fiscal 2010.
 

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141R, Business Combinations  (“SFAS 141R”). SFAS 141R establishes principles and
requirements for how the acquirer of a business recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed,
and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree. The statement also provides guidance for recognizing and measuring the goodwill acquired in the business
combination and determines what information to disclose to enable users of financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business
combination. Additionally, in April 2009, the FASB issued FSP 141R-1, Accounting for Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed in a Business
Combination that Arise from Contingencies (“FSP 141R-1”), which amends SFAS 141R to require that assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a
business combination that are from contingencies be recognized in accordance with FAS 157 if the fair value can be determined during the measurement
period.  SFAS 141R and FSP 141R-1 are both effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. The nature and
magnitude of the specific effects of adopting SFAS 141R and FSP 141R-1 will depend upon the nature, terms and size of any acquisitions we may
consummate after the effective date of our adoption of SFAS 141R in the first quarter of Fiscal 2010.

 
In April 2008, the FASB issued FSP No. 142-3, Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets  (“FSP 142-3”), which amends the guidance

about estimating the useful lives of recognized intangible assets and requires additional disclosures related to renewing or extending the terms of recognized
intangible assets under SFAS 142. FSP 142-3 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years,
beginning after December 15, 2008. We currently do not expect the adoption of FSP 142-3 will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

 
In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 162, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“SFAS 162”). SFAS 162 identifies

the sources of accounting principles to be used in the preparation of financial statements of nongovernmental entities that are presented in conformity with
GAAP. SFAS 162 is effective 60 days following the Securities and Exchange Commission approval of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
amendments to AU Section 411, The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.  We currently adhere to the
hierarchy of GAAP as presented in SFAS 162, and adoption is not expected to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

 
In May 2008, the FASB issued FSP APB 14-1, Accounting for Convertible Debt Instruments That May Be Settled in Cash upon Conversion

(Including Partial Cash Settlement)  (“FSP APB 14-1”). FSP APB 14-1 clarifies that convertible debt instruments that may be settled in cash upon either
mandatory or optional conversion (including partial cash settlement) are not addressed by paragraph 12 of APB Opinion No. 14, Accounting for Convertible
Debt and Debt Issued with Stock Purchase Warrants. Additionally, FSP APB 14-1 specifies that issuers of such instruments should separately account for
the liability and equity components in a manner that will reflect the entity’s nonconvertible debt borrowing rate when interest cost is recognized in subsequent
periods. FSP APB 14-1 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and interim periods within those fiscal
years, and must be applied on a retrospective basis. We plan to adopt FSP APB 14-1 in the first fiscal quarter of Fiscal 2010 and are currently evaluating the
impact to our consolidated financial statements.

 
In June 2008, the FASB issued Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 07-5, Determining Whether an Instrument (or Embedded

Feature) Is Indexed to an Entity’s Own Stock (“EITF 07-5”). EITF 07-5 clarifies how to determine whether certain instruments or features were indexed to an
entity’s own stock under EITF Issue No. 01-6, The Meaning of “Indexed to a Company’s Own Stock,” (“EITF 01-6”), and provides guidance to determine
what accounting literature may apply to a particular equity linked instrument or feature. EITF 07-5 will become effective for financial statements issued for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and interim periods within those fiscal years, and must be applied to all instruments outstanding on the date
of adoption. We plan to adopt EITF 07-5 in the first quarter of Fiscal 2010 and are currently evaluating the impact to our consolidated financial statements.
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In May 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 165, Subsequent Events (“SFAS 165”). SFAS 165 provides authoritative accounting literature related to
evaluating subsequent events that was previously addressed only in the auditing literature, and is largely similar to the current guidance in the auditing
literature with some exceptions that are not intended to result in significant changes in practice. SFAS 165 defines subsequent events and also requires the
disclosure of the date through which an entity has evaluated subsequent events and the basis for that date. SFAS 165 is effective on a prospective basis for
interim or annual financial periods ending after June 15, 2009. We plan to adopt SFAS 165 in the first quarter of Fiscal 2010 and do not expect it to have a
material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
 
Seasonality
 

We have historically experienced seasonality, particularly with respect to our Roadway Sensors net sales in the third and fourth fiscal quarters due to
a reduction in road construction and repairs during the winter months due to inclement weather conditions.

 
ITEM 7A.                                      QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
 

Our exposure to interest rate risk is limited to our line of credit and our bank term note. Our line of credit bears interest based on the prevailing prime
rate (3.25% at March 31, 2009) plus 0% to 1.0%.  We do not believe that a 10% increase in the interest rate on our line of credit or term note (from 3.25% to
4.68%) would have a material impact on our financial position, operating results or cash flows. In addition, we believe that the carrying value of our
outstanding debt under our credit facility approximates fair value.
 
ITEM 8.                                               FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
 

The financial statements and supplementary data required by Regulation S-X are included in Part IV, Item 15 of this report.
 

ITEM 9.                                               CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
 

None.
 

ITEM 9A.                                      CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 

(a)   Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.  In accordance with Rule 13a-15(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as of the end
of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, management evaluated, with the participation of the our President and Chief Executive Officer and
the Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the
Exchange Act). Based upon their evaluation of these disclosure controls and procedures, the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial
Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the date of such evaluation in ensuring that information required to be
disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is (1) recorded, processed, summarized and reported in a timely manner, and (2) accumulated and communicated to
management, including the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure.

 
(b)   Changes in internal control.    There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by

this Annual Report on Form 10-K that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
 

Inherent Limitations on Internal Control
 
A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control

system are met. Further, the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of management override or improper acts, if any, have been detected.
These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple errors.
Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the
control. The design of any system of controls is also based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no
assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective
control system, misstatements due to management override, error or improper acts may occur and not be detected. Any resulting misstatement or loss may
have an adverse and material effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Our internal control system was
designed to provide reasonable assurance to management and the board of directors regarding the effectiveness of our internal control processes over the
preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements.
 

We have assessed the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting as of March 31, 2009. In making this assessment, we used the
criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in Internal Control—Integrated Framework. Based
on our assessment, we believe that, as of March 31, 2009, our internal control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria.

 
This annual report does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial

reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our independent registered public accounting firm pursuant to the rules of the Securities and
Exchange Commission that permit us to provide only management’s report in this annual report.

 
ITEM 9B.                    OTHER INFORMATION
 

In May 2009, we entered into a separation agreement with Francis Memole, the former Senior Vice President and General Manager of our Vehicle
Sensors segment, related to his termination of employment with Iteris, Inc.  Pursuant to this agreement, we have agreed to pay four and one half months of
severance to Mr. Memole for an aggregate severance amount of approximately $72,000, in exchange for Mr. Memole’s broad release of claims against us and
our affiliates.  In addition, we have agreed to pay 65% of Mr. Memole’s COBRA premiums until December 31, 2009 pursuant to the American Recovery and
Reinvestment Act, as well as the balance of his first month’s COBRA premium.

 
PART III

 
ITEM 10.                       DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
 

(a)  Identification of Directors. The information under the caption “Election of Directors,” appearing in our proxy statement for the 2009 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders, is incorporated herein by reference.

 
(b)  Identification of Executive Officers. The information under the caption “Executive Compensation and Other Information - Executive Officers,”

appearing in our proxy statement for the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, is incorporated herein by reference.
 
(c)  Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act. The information under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting

Compliance” appearing in our proxy statement for the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated herein by reference.
 
(d)  Corporate Governance . The information under the caption “Corporate Governance,” appearing in our proxy statement for the 2009 Annual

Meeting of Stockholders, is incorporated herein by reference.
 
(e)  Audit Committee. The information under the caption “Board Meetings and Committees — Audit Committee,” appearing in our proxy statement

for the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, is incorporated herein by reference.
 

ITEM 11.                      EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
 

The information under the caption “Executive Compensation and Other Information,” appearing in our proxy statement for the 2009 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders, is incorporated herein by reference.

 
ITEM 12.                    SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER

MATTERS
 

The information under the captions “Equity Compensation Plans” and “Principal Stockholders and Common Stock Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management,” appearing in our proxy statement for the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, is incorporated herein by reference.

 
ITEM 13.                  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
 

The information under the captions “Corporate Governance — Director Independence” and “Certain Transactions,” appearing in our proxy statement
for the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, is incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 14.                  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
 

The information under the caption “Fees Paid to Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm,” appearing in our proxy statement for the 2009
Annual Meeting of Stockholders, is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
 

ITEM 15.                  EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
 

(a)               Documents filed as part of this report:
 
1.             Financial Statements. The following financial statements of Iteris, Inc. are included in a separate section of this Annual Report on

Form 10-K commencing on the pages referenced below:
 
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 34
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2009 and 2008 35
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 36
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income for the years ended March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 37
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 38
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 39

 
2.             Exhibits.
 
The exhibits listed on the accompanying index to exhibits immediately following the financial statements are filed as part of, or hereby incorporated

by reference into, this report.
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
Dated: June 11, 2009 ITERIS, INC.

(Registrant)
  

By /S/ ABBAS MOHADDES
Abbas Mohaddes
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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POWER OF ATTORNEY
 

We, the undersigned officers and directors of Iteris, Inc., do hereby constitute and appoint James S. Miele and Abbas Mohaddes, and each of them,
our true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and
all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this report, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and
every act and thing requisite or necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby,
ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue
hereof.

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the

registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated:
 

Signature Title Date
     

/s/ ABBAS MOHADDES Director, President and Chief Executive Officer June 11, 2009
Abbas Mohaddes (principal executive officer)

     
/s/ JAMES S. MIELE Chief Financial Officer June 11, 2009

James S. Miele (principal financial and accounting officer)
     

/s/ GREGORY A. MINER Chairman of the Board June 11, 2009
Gregory A. Miner

     
/s/ RICHARD CHAR Director June 11, 2009

Richard Char
     

/s/ KEVIN C. DALY Director June 11, 2009
Kevin C. Daly, Ph.D.

     
/s/ JOHN SEAZHOLTZ Director June 11, 2009

John Seazholtz
     

/s/ JOEL SLUTZKY Director June 11, 2009
Joel Slutzky

     
/s/ THOMAS L. THOMAS Director June 11, 2009

Thomas L. Thomas
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Iteris, Inc.
 

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements
 
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 34
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Iteris, Inc.
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Iteris, Inc. as of March 31, 2009 and 2008, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2009.  These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).  Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Iteris, Inc. as of
March 31, 2009 and 2008, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2009, in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
 
As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, effective April 1, 2007 the Company changed its method of accounting for uncertainty in
income taxes.
 
We were not engaged to examine management’s assessment of the effectiveness of Iteris, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2009,
included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion thereon.
 
/s/ McGladrey & Pullen, LLP
Irvine, California
June 10, 2009
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Iteris, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except par value)
 

March 31,
2009 2008

      
Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,372 $ 421
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $534 and $1,020 at March 31, 2009

and 2008, respectively 12,448 13,108
Costs in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts 4,217 5,351
Inventories 5,681 4,226
Deferred income taxes 4,241 2,541
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 272 371

Total current assets 33,231 26,018
Property and equipment:

Leasehold improvements 1,930 1,915
Equipment 8,136 7,356
Accumulated depreciation (6,822) (5,804)

3,244 3,467
Deferred income taxes 11,505 7,807
Intangible assets, net 110 257
Goodwill 27,774 27,774
Other assets 202 322

Total assets $ 76,066 $ 65,645
      
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:

Trade accounts payable $ 4,228 $ 3,902
Accrued payroll and related expenses 3,188 3,825
Accrued liabilities 1,662 1,973
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts 1,534 1,126
Current portion of long-term debt 2,019 244

Total current liabilities 12,631 11,070
Deferred rent 1,686 1,956
Unrecognized tax benefits 1,117 1,381
Other non-current liabilities — 461
Long-term debt 5,274 7,566

Total liabilities 20,708 22,434
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, $1.00 par value:
Authorized shares - 2,000
Issued and outstanding shares - none — —

Common stock. $0.10 par value:
Authorized shares - 70,000 at March 31, 2009 and 2008
Issued and outstanding shares - 34,205 at March 31, 2009 and 33,420 at March 31, 2008 3,420 3,342

Additional paid-in capital 136,997 135,516
Common stock held in trust (31) (202)
Accumulated deficit (85,025) (95,499)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (3) 54

Total stockholders’ equity 55,358 43,211
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 76,066 $ 65,645
 

See accompanying notes.
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Iteris, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
 

Year Ended March 31,
2009 2008 2007

        
Net sales and contract revenues:

Net sales $ 38,427 $ 40,326 $ 36,248
Contract revenues 30,932 24,837 22,049

Total net sales and contract revenues 69,359 65,163 58,297
Costs of net sales and contract revenues:

Cost of net sales(a) 20,346 20,499 19,829
Cost of contract revenues(a) 21,094 16,367 14,460

Gross profit 27,919 28,297 24,008
Operating expenses:

Selling, general and administrative(a) 18,035 17,289 16,003
Research and development(a) 4,030 3,566 4,030
Amortization of intangible assets 147 147 147

Total operating expenses 22,212 21,002 20,180
Operating income 5,707 7,295 3,828
Non-operating income (expense):

Other income (expense), net 116 252 (653)
Interest expense, net (646) (1,284) (1,600)

Income before income taxes 5,177 6,263 1,575
Income tax benefit 5,297 5,900 1,343
Net income $ 10,474 $ 12,163 $ 2,918
        
Earnings per share:

Basic $ 0.31 $ 0.37 $ 0.10
Diluted $ 0.30 $ 0.35 $ 0.09

Weighted-average shares outstanding:
Basic 33,964 32,723 29,698
Diluted 34,638 34,713 33,348

 

(a)    Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:
        

Cost of net sales $ 9 $ 3 $ 13
Cost of contract revenues 38 14 60
Selling, general and administrative 297 266 195
Research and development 20 7 20

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 364 $ 290 $ 288
 

See accompanying notes.
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Iteris, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income

(In thousands)
 

Common
Stock Shares Amount

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Common
Stock Held

in Trust

Notes
Receivable

From
Employees

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total Stockholder’s
Equity

                  
Balance at March 31, 2006 27,432 $ 2,743 $ 126,664 $ (374) $ (49) $ (110,356) $ 7 $ 18,635
Warrant exercises 1,706 170 2,265 — — — — 2,435
Stock option exercises 1,374 138 982 — — — — 1,120
Issuance of warrants — — 22 — — — — 22
Stock-based compensation — — 2 8 8 — — — — 2 8 8
Issuance of common stock in connection with

legal settlement 89 9 204 — — — — 213
Repayment of notes receivable from employees — — — — 44 — — 44
Components of comprehensive income:

Foreign currency translation — — — — — — 12 12
Net income — — — — — 2,918 — 2,918

Comprehensive income — — — — — — — 2,930
Balance at March 31, 2007 30,601 3,060 130,425 (374) (5) (107,438) 19 25,687
Conversion of redeemable common stock to

common stock 1,219 122 3,292 — — — — 3,414
Warrant exercises 8 5 9 113 — — — — 122
Stock option exercises 1,515 151 1,223 — — — — 1,374
Stock-based compensation — — 290 — — — — 290
Issuance of shares held in trust — — 178 172 — — — 350
Write-off of notes receivable from employees — — (5) — 5 — — —
Cumulative effect of adoption of FIN 48 — — — — — (224) — (224)
Components of comprehensive income:

Foreign currency translation — — — — — — 35 35
Net income — — — — — 12,163 — 12,163

Comprehensive income — — — — — — — 12,198
Balance at March 31, 2008 33,420 3,342 135,516 (202) — (95,499) 54 43,211
Stock option exercises 785 7 8 861 — — — — 939
Stock-based compensation — — 364 — — — — 364
Issuance of shares held in trust — — 256 171 — — — 427
Components of comprehensive income:

Foreign currency translation — — — — — — (57) (57)
Net income — — — — — 10,474 — 10,474

Comprehensive income — — — — — — — 10,417
Balance at March 31, 2009 34,205 $ 3,420 $ 136,997 $ (31) $ — $ (85,025) $ (3) $ 55,358

 
See accompanying notes.
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Iteris, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)
 

Year Ended March 31,
2009 2008 2007

        
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 10,474 $ 12,163 $ 2,918
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) operating

activities:
Change in deferred tax assets (5,398) (7,321) (1,419)
Depreciation of property and equipment 1,018 756 5 5 9
Stock-based compensation 364 290 288
Gain on early extinguishment of debt (50) (224) —
Amortization of debt discounts 109 201 207
Amortization of deferred financing costs 72 135 137
Amortization of deferred gain on sale-leaseback — (165) (284)
Amortization of intangible assets 147 147 147
Issuance of common stock in connection with legal settlement — — 213
Fair value of warrants issued for services — — 22
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 660 (1,615) (67)
Net costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings 1,542 (1,383) (1,042)
Inventories (1,455) 2,153 (3,565)
Prepaid expenses and other assets 97 (77) 19
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (1,190) 2,519 (182)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 6,390 7,579 (2,049)
        
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment (795) (739) (488)
        
Cash flows from financing activities
(Payments on) proceeds from borrowings on lines of credit, net — (4,015) 1,353
Borrowings on long-term debt 6,543 — —
Payments on long-term debt (7,069) (3,838) (1,843)
Credit facility commitment fees — (50) (40)
Checks drawn in excess of available bank balances — (47) (628)
Proceeds from stock option exercises 939 1,374 1,120
Proceeds from warrant exercises — 122 2,435
Proceeds from notes receivable from employees — — 44
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 413 (6,454) 2,441
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (57) — —
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5,951 386 (96)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 421 35 131
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 6,372 $ 421 $ 35
        
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for:

Interest $ 545 $ 1,008 $ 1,263
Income taxes 462 24 39

        
Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Fair value of common stock issued in settlement of liabilities $ 427 $ 350 $ —
Conversion of redeemable common stock to common stock — 3,414 —
Lease incentives in connection with new headquarters lease — 1,772 —
Write-off of notes receivable from employees — (5) —
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Iteris, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2009
 

1.                                      Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
Description of Business
 

Iteris, Inc. (including our subsidiary, referred to collectively in these consolidated financial statements as “Iteris,” “the Company,” “we,” “our” and
“us”)  is a leader in the traffic management market focused on the development and application of advanced technologies that reduce traffic congestion,
minimize the environmental impact of traffic congestion and improve the safety of surface transportation systems infrastructure.  By combining outdoor image
processing, traffic engineering and information technology, we offer a broad range of Intelligent Transportation Systems (“ITS”) and driver safety solutions to
customers worldwide.  Iteris was originally incorporated in Delaware in 1987.

 
Basis of Presentation
 

Our consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Iteris and our subsidiary, Iteris Europe GmbH. All significant intercompany accounts
and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

 
Use of Estimates
 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“U.S.
GAAP”) requires our management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates made in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements include the allowance for
doubtful accounts, projections of taxable income used to assess realizability of deferred tax assets, inventory and warranty reserves, costs to complete long-
term contracts, overhead rates used in cost-plus contracts, contract reserves, the valuation of equity instruments and estimates of future cash flows used to
assess the recoverability of long-lived assets and the realization of goodwill.

 
Reclassifications
 

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year financial statements to conform to the current year presentation.
 

Revenue Recognition
 

Product revenues and related costs of sales are recognized upon the transfer of title, which generally occurs upon shipment or, if required, upon
acceptance by the customer, provided that we believe collectibility of the net sales amount is reasonably assured. Accordingly, at the date revenue is recognized,
the significant uncertainties concerning the sale have been resolved.

 
Contract revenues are derived primarily from long-term contracts with governmental agencies. Contract revenues include costs incurred plus a

portion of estimated fees or profits determined on the percentage of completion method of accounting based on the relationship of costs incurred to total
estimated costs. Any anticipated losses on contracts are charged to earnings when identified. Changes in job performance and estimated profitability, including
those arising from contract penalty provisions and final contract settlements, may result in revisions to costs and revenues and are recognized in the period in
which the revisions are determined. Profit incentives are included in revenue when their realization is reasonably assured. Costs and estimated earnings in
excess of billings at March 31, 2009 and 2008 include $684,000 and $828,000, respectively, that were not billable as certain milestone objectives specified in
the contracts had not been attained. Substantially all costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings at March 31, 2009 are expected to be billed and collected
during the fiscal year ending March 31, 2010.
 

In addition to product and contract revenue, we derive revenue from technology access fees, the provision of specific non-recurring contract
engineering services and royalties. Technology access fee revenues are recognized evenly over the period in which they are earned. Non-recurring contract
engineering revenues are recognized in the period in which the related services are performed. Royalty revenues are recorded in the period in which the royalty is
earned, based on unit sales of our products. Technology access fee revenues, contract engineering revenues and royalty revenues are included in net sales in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

 
Revenues from follow-on service and support, for which we charge separately, are recorded in the period in which the services are performed.
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Concentration of Credit Risk
 

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to a concentration of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents and trade accounts
receivable.

 
Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of demand deposits and money market funds maintained with several financial institutions. Deposits

held with banks may exceed the amount of insurance provided on such deposits. Generally, these deposits may be redeemed upon demand and are maintained
with high credit quality financial institutions and therefore have minimal credit risk.

 
Accounts receivable are primarily derived from revenues earned from customers located throughout North America and Europe. We generally do not

require collateral or other security from customers. Collectibility of receivable balances is estimated through review of invoices outstanding greater than a
certain period of time and ongoing credit evaluations of our customers’ financial condition. Reserves are maintained for potential credit losses, and such losses
have historically been within management’s expectations.

 
Fair Values of Financial Instruments
 

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, inventories, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate carrying value because of
the short period of time to maturity. The fair value of line of credit agreements, long-term debt and convertible debentures approximate carrying value because
the related effective rates of interest approximate current market rates available to us for debt with similar terms and similar remaining maturities.

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents
 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term investments with initial maturities of ninety days or less.
 

Inventories
 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out method.
 

Property and Equipment
 

Property and equipment are recorded at cost and are depreciated over the estimated useful life ranging from three to eight years.  Leasehold
improvements are depreciated over the term of the related lease or the estimated useful life of the improvement, whichever is shorter.

 
Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets
 

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, Goodwill and Intangible Assets  (“SFAS 142”), goodwill is
tested for impairment on an annual basis in our fourth fiscal quarter or more frequently if indicators of impairment exist.  The performance of the test involves
a two-step process.  The first step of the impairment test involves comparing the fair value of our reporting units with each respective reporting unit’s carrying
amount, including goodwill.  We determine the fair value of reporting units using the income approach.  If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds the
reporting unit’s fair value, the second step of the goodwill impairment test is performed to determine the amount of any impairment loss.  The second step of
the goodwill impairment test involves comparing the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill. We
performed annual impairment assessments of the carrying value of goodwill for each of the years ended March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007. Based on these
assessments, we determined that no impairment was indicated as the estimated fair value of each of our reporting units exceeded its respective carrying value.
 

We evaluate long-lived assets for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets, which requires impairment evaluation on long-lived assets used in operations when indicators of impairment are present.  Reviews are performed to
determine whether the carrying value of assets is impaired, based on a comparison to undiscounted expected future cash flows.  If this comparison indicates
that there is impairment, the impaired asset is written down to fair value, which is typically calculated using discounted expected future cash flows and a
discount rate based upon our weighted average cost of capital adjusted for risks associated with the related operations.  Impairment is based on the excess of
the carrying amount over the fair value of those assets.

 
Income Taxes
 

We utilize the liability method of accounting for income taxes as set forth in SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes (“SFAS 109”).  Under
the liability method, deferred taxes are determined based on the temporary differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities
using enacted tax rates.  A valuation allowance is recorded when it is more likely than not that all or a portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. See
Note 4.
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On April 1, 2007, we adopted the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty
in Income Taxes — an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109  (“FIN 48”).  FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes by
establishing minimum standards for the recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Under the requirements of
FIN 48, we must review all of our tax positions and make a determination as to whether each position is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination
by regulatory authorities. If a tax position meets the more-likely-than-not standard, then the related tax benefit is measured based on a cumulative probability
analysis of the amount that is more-likely-than-not to be realized upon ultimate settlement or disposition of the underlying issue.
 
Stock-Based Compensation
 

Effective April 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (“SFAS 123R”), which replaced SFAS No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation  (“SFAS 123”), superseded Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued
to Employees (“APB 25”), and amended SFAS No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows .  SFAS 123R requires all stock-based payments, including grants of
employee stock options, to be recognized in the statement of operations as an expense, based on their grant date fair values with such fair values amortized over
the requisite service period.  We elected to use the modified prospective transition method for transition to SFAS 123R.  Under the modified prospective
method, SFAS 123R applies to all awards granted or modified after the date of adoption.  In addition, under the modified prospective method, compensation
expense will be recognized for all stock-based compensation awards granted prior to but not yet vested as of April 1, 2006, based on grant-date fair values
estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS 123.

 
The fair value concepts were not changed significantly as a result of implementing SFAS 123R; however, in adopting SFAS 123R, companies must

choose among alternative valuation models and amortization assumptions.  The fair value of each stock-based award is estimated on the grant date using the
Black-Scholes-Merton (“BSM”) option-pricing formula. Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of our stock price. The expected life of options
granted subsequent to the adoption of SFAS 123R is derived based on the historical life of our options.  The risk-free interest rate for periods within the
expected life of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury interest rates in effect at the time of grant.  Additionally, SFAS 123 did not require the estimation of
forfeitures in the calculation of stock compensation expense; however, SFAS 123R does require such estimation and upon adoption of SFAS 123R, we
changed our methodology to include an estimate of forfeitures.

 
In addition, in accordance with SFAS 123R, SFAS 109 and Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Topic D-32, Intraperiod Tax Allocation of the

Tax Effect of Pretax Income from Continuing Operations, we have elected to recognize excess income tax benefits from stock option exercises in additional
paid-in capital only if an incremental income tax benefit would be realized after considering all other tax attributes presently available to us. We measure the tax
benefit associated with excess tax deductions related to stock-based compensation expense by multiplying the excess tax deductions by the statutory tax rates.
 
Research and Development Expenditures
 

Research and development expenditures are charged to expense in the period incurred.
 

Shipping and Handling Costs
 

Shipping and handling costs are included as cost of sales in the period during which the products ship.
 

Sales Taxes
 

Sales taxes are presented on a net basis (excluded from net sales and contract revenues) in the consolidated statements of operations.
 

Advertising Expenses
 

Advertising costs are expensed in the period incurred and totaled $202,000, $172,000 and $152,000 in the years ended March 31, 2009, 2008 and
2007, respectively.

 
Warranty
 

We generally provide a one to three year warranty from the original invoice date on all products, materials and workmanship.  Products sold to
certain original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”) customers sometimes carry longer warranties. Defective products will be either repaired or replaced,
generally at our option, upon meeting certain criteria. We accrue a provision for the estimated costs that may be incurred for product warranties relating to a
product as a component of cost of sales at the time revenue for that product is recognized.  The accrued warranty provision is included within accrued
expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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Repair and Maintenance Costs
 

We incur repair and maintenance costs in the normal course of business. Should the activity result in a permanent improvement to one of our leased
facilities, the cost is capitalized as a leasehold improvement and amortized over its useful life or the remainder of the lease period, whichever is shorter. Non-
permanent repair and maintenance costs are charged to expense as incurred.

 
Comprehensive Income
 

The only component of accumulated other comprehensive income is foreign currency translation adjustments.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (“SFAS 157”), which
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosure about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 does not require any
new fair value measurements; rather it specifies valuation methods to be applied when fair value measurements are required under existing or future accounting
pronouncements. SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and interim periods within those fiscal years. In February 2008,
the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) 157-2, Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157 (“FSP 157-2”), which delays the effective date of SFAS
157 for non-financial assets and liabilities to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008. Generally, SFAS 157 will be applied prospectively. With
respect to financial assets and liabilities, we adopted SFAS 157 in the first quarter of fiscal 2009, for which there was no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements. We are currently evaluating the impact of SFAS 157 and FSP 157-2 with respect to our non-financial assets and liabilities and expect to
adopt SFAS 157 and FSP 157-2 with respect to these assets and liabilities in the first quarter of our fiscal year ending March 31, 2010.
 

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141R, Business Combinations  (“SFAS 141R”). SFAS 141R establishes principles and
requirements for how the acquirer of a business recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed,
and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree. The statement also provides guidance for recognizing and measuring the goodwill acquired in the business
combination and determines what information to disclose to enable users of financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business
combination. Additionally, in April 2009, the FASB issued FSP 141R-1, Accounting for Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed in a Business
Combination that Arise from Contingencies (“FSP 141R-1”), which amends SFAS 141R to require that assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a
business combination that are from contingencies be recognized in accordance with SFAS 157 if the fair value can be determined during the measurement
period.  SFAS 141R and FSP 141R-1 are both effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. The nature and
magnitude of the specific effects of adopting SFAS 141R and FSP 141R-1 will depend upon the nature, terms and size of any acquisitions we may
consummate after the effective date of our adoption of SFAS 141R in the first fiscal quarter of our fiscal year ending March 31, 2010.

 
In April 2008, the FASB issued FSP No. 142-3, Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets  (“FSP 142-3”), which amends the guidance

about estimating the useful lives of recognized intangible assets and requires additional disclosures related to renewing or extending the terms of recognized
intangible assets under SFAS 142. FSP 142-3 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years,
beginning after December 15, 2008. We currently do not expect the adoption of FSP 142-3 will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

 
In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 162, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles  (“SFAS 162”). SFAS 162 identifies

the sources of accounting principles to be used in the preparation of financial statements of nongovernmental entities that are presented in conformity with U.S.
GAAP. SFAS 162 is effective 60 days following the SEC approval of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board amendments to AU Section 411, The
Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.  We currently adhere to the hierarchy of U.S. GAAP as presented
in SFAS 162, and adoption is not expected to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

 
In May 2008, the FASB issued FSP APB 14-1, Accounting for Convertible Debt Instruments That May Be Settled in Cash upon Conversion

(Including Partial Cash Settlement)  (“FSP APB 14-1”). FSP APB 14-1 clarifies that convertible debt instruments that may be settled in cash upon either
mandatory or optional conversion (including partial cash settlement) are not addressed by paragraph 12 of APB Opinion No. 14, Accounting for Convertible
Debt and Debt Issued with Stock Purchase Warrants. Additionally, FSP APB 14-1 specifies that issuers of such instruments should separately account for
the liability and equity components in a manner that will reflect the entity’s nonconvertible debt borrowing rate when interest cost is recognized in subsequent
periods. FSP APB 14-1 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and interim periods within those fiscal
years, and must be applied on a retrospective basis. We plan to adopt FSP APB 14-1 in the first fiscal quarter of our fiscal year ending March 31, 2010 and
are currently evaluating the impact to our consolidated financial statements.
 

In June 2008, the FASB issued EITF Issue No. 07-5, Determining Whether an Instrument (or Embedded Feature) Is Indexed to an Entity’s Own
Stock (“EITF 07-5”). EITF 07-5 clarifies how to determine whether certain instruments or features were indexed to an entity’s own stock under EITF Issue
No. 01-6, The Meaning of “Indexed to a Company’s Own Stock” (“EITF 01-6”), and provides guidance to determine what accounting literature may apply
to a particular equity linked instrument or feature. EITF 07-5 will become
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effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and interim periods within those fiscal years, and must be
applied to all instruments outstanding on the date of adoption. We plan to adopt EITF 07-5 in the first quarter of our fiscal year ending March 31, 2010 and
are currently evaluating the impact to our consolidated financial statements.

 
In May 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 165, Subsequent Events (“SFAS 165”). SFAS 165 provides authoritative accounting literature related to

evaluating subsequent events that was previously addressed only in the auditing literature, and is largely similar to the current guidance in the auditing
literature with some exceptions that are not intended to result in significant changes in practice. SFAS 165 defines subsequent events and also requires the
disclosure of the date through which an entity has evaluated subsequent events and the basis for that date. SFAS 165 is effective on a prospective basis for
interim or annual financial periods ending after June 15, 2009. We plan to adopt SFAS 165 in the first quarter of our fiscal year ending March 31, 2010 and
do not expect it to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
 
2.                                      Supplementary Financial Information
 
Inventories
 

The following table presents details regarding our inventories:
 

March 31,
2009 2008

(In thousands)
Materials and supplies $  4,820 $  3,031
Work in process 198 345
Finished goods 663 850

$  5,681 $  4,226
 
Intangible Assets
 

The following table presents details regarding our intangible assets:
 

March 31, 2009 March 31, 2008
Gross

Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

(In thousands)
Intangible assets subject to

amortization:
Developed technology $  495 $  (482) $  495 $  (381)
Patents 317 (220) 317 (174)

Total $  812 $  (702) $  812 $  (555)
 

Amortization expense for intangible assets subject to amortization was $147,000 for each of the years ended March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007. Future
estimated amortization expense is as follows:
 

Year Ending March 31:
(In thousands)
2010 $  58
2011 46
2012 6

$  110
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Warranty Reserve Activity
 

The following table presents activity with respect to our accrued warranty obligations:
 

Year Ended March 31,
2009 2008 2007

(In thousands)
Balance at beginning of year $  494 $  520 $  519

Additions charged to cost of sales 342 347 630
Warranty claims (254) (373) (629)

Balance at end of year $  582 $  494 $  520
 
Earnings Per Share
 

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted income per share:
 

Year Ended March 31,
2009 2008 2007

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Numerator:

Net income $  10,474 $  12,163 $  2,918
        
Denominator:

Weighted average common shares used in basic computation 33,964 32,723 29,698
Dilutive stock options 671 1,973 3,346
Dilutive warrants 3 17 304
Weighted average common shares used in diluted computation 34,638 34,713 33,348

        
Earnings per share:

Basic $  0.31 $  0.37 $  0.10
Diluted $  0.30 $  0.35 $  0.09

 
The following shares were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share as their effect would have been 

anti-dilutive:
 

Year Ended March 31,
2009 2008 2007

(In thousands)
        
Stock options 1,518 520 582
Warrants 1,158 1,170 1,240
Convertible debentures 1,281 2,661 2,729

 
3.                                     Revolving Line of Credit and Long-Term Debt
 
Revolving Line of Credit
 

Prior to October 16, 2008, we had a credit facility with a bank that provided for line of credit borrowings of up to $10.0 million. Under this credit
facility, we could borrow against our eligible accounts receivable and eligible inventory, as defined in the credit agreement. Interest on borrowed amounts under
the line of credit was payable monthly at the current stated prime rate plus 1.00%. Additionally, we were obligated to pay an unused line fee of 0.25% per
annum applied to the amount by which the maximum credit amount exceeded the average daily principal balance during the preceding month. The credit
facility required $2,000 in monthly collateral management fees and included an early termination fee equal to 2% of the total facility during the first year of the
agreement and 1% of the total facility in the second year of the agreement. The credit facility was secured by substantially all of our assets.  This credit facility
expired on October 15, 2008.

 
Effective October 16, 2008, we entered into a new $19.5 million credit facility with a different bank, which replaced our existing credit facility. 

This new credit facility provides for a two-year revolving line of credit with borrowings of up to $12.0 million and a $7.5 million 48-month term note
(discussed below).  Interest on borrowed amounts under the revolving line of credit will be payable monthly at a rate equal to the current stated prime rate up to
the current stated prime rate plus 0.50%, depending on aggregate deposit balances maintained at the bank in relation to the total loan commitment under the
credit facility (3.75% at March 31, 2009).  We are obligated to pay an unused line fee of 0.25% per annum applied to the average unused portion of the
revolving line of credit during the preceding month.  The revolving line of credit does not contain any early termination fees and is secured by substantially
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all of our assets.  As of March 31, 2009, no amounts were borrowed under the revolving line of credit portion of the facility. As part of this credit facility, we
may also borrow up to $7.5 million in the form of a 48-month term note to retire our convertible debentures as discussed below under “Long-Term Debt —
Bank Term Notes.”

 
On March 31, 2009, the available credit under the revolving line of credit was $12.0 million, all of which was unused.
 

Long-Term Debt
 

Our long-term debt consists of the following:
 

March 31,
2009 2008

(In thousands)
Convertible debentures, net $ 750 $ 7,566
Bank term note 6,543 210
Other — 34

7,293 7,810
Less current portion (2,019) (244)

$ 5,274 $ 7,566
 
Convertible Debentures, Net. In May 2004, we sold and issued subordinated convertible debentures in the aggregate original principal amount of

$10.1 million. In connection with the issuance of the debentures, we issued warrants to purchase an aggregate of 639,847 shares of our common stock, the
value of which was recorded as a debt discount against the face amount of the debentures on the date of issuance and is being amortized to interest expense over
the term of the convertible debentures.

 
The debentures were due in full on May 19, 2009, provided for 6.0% annual interest, payable quarterly, and were convertible into our common

stock at an initial conversion price of $3.61 per share, subject to certain adjustments, including adjustments for dilutive issuances. From May 19, 2008 until
the maturity date, we were permitted to redeem the debentures at 110% of the principal amount. Through March 31, 2009, $250,000 of debentures had been
converted into 69,252 shares of our common stock.
 

During the year ended March 31, 2008, at the holders’ request, we paid $1.8 million in cash to retire $2.1 million of convertible debentures early, for
which we recorded a net gain of $224,000.  During the year ended March 31, 2009, we early-retired an additional $7.0 million of outstanding convertible
debentures, also at the holders’ request, for a net gain of approximately $50,000. For this retirement we used $300,000 of our cash and financed $6.5 million
under our new bank term note, which is described below under the caption “Bank Term Notes.” The net gains above were recorded within other income for
their respective fiscal years within the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

 
As of March 31, 2009, $750,000 of convertible debentures remained outstanding. Subsequently, on May 18, 2009, we retired this outstanding

balance, which was also financed under our bank term note. In accordance with SFAS No. 6, Classifications of Short-Term Obligations Expected to Be
Refinanced, we have classified the portion of the remaining outstanding convertible debentures financed under our term note subsequent to March 31, 2009 as
long-term debt in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2009.

 
Bank Term Notes. In October 2004, we entered into a $5.0 million term note payable with a bank. The note was due on May 27, 2008, and provided

for monthly principal payments of approximately $104,000.  The final payment against this term note was made in June 2008.
 
Effective October 16, 2008, we entered into a new $19.5 million credit facility with a different bank, as described above.  Under this new credit

facility, we may borrow up to $7.5 million in the form of a 48-month term note to retire all outstanding convertible debentures.  Principal payments under this
term note are required to be repaid in 48 monthly installments commencing on June 1, 2009.  Interest on the term note is payable monthly at a rate equal to the
current stated prime rate plus 0.50% up to the current stated prime rate plus 1.00%, depending on aggregate deposit balances maintained at the bank in relation
to the total loan commitment under the credit facility (4.25% at March 31, 2009).  We paid an upfront loan commitment fee of $28,000 for the term note. The
term note contains no early termination fees and, along with the new revolving line of credit under the same credit agreement (above), is secured by
substantially all of our assets. As of March 31, 2009, $6.5 million had been borrowed against this term note to repay convertible debentures.

 
On February 4, 2009 we entered into an Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement with our bank which supersedes the agreements entered

into on October 16, 2008 in their entirety. The October 16, 2008 documents were amended and restated to clarify certain ambiguities and remove non-
applicable language.  No modifications were made to any significant provisions related to the overall amount of the credit facility, interest rate calculations, or
any financial or non-financial covenant.
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Scheduled aggregate maturities of long-term debt principal as of March 31, 2009 were as follows:
 

Year Ending March 31:
(In thousands)
2010 $ 2,019
2011 2,323
2012 2,323
2013 628

$ 7,293
 
4.                                     Income Taxes
 

For financial reporting purposes, income before income taxes includes the following components:
 

Year Ended March 31,
2009 2008 2007

(In thousands)
United States $ 4,927 $ 6,119 $ 1,517
Foreign 250 144 58

$ 5,177 $ 6,263 $ 1,575
 
The reconciliation of our income tax benefit to taxes computed at U.S. federal statutory rates is as follows:

 
Year Ended March 31,

2009 2008 2007
(In thousands)

Income tax provision at statutory rates $ 1,761 $ 2,131 $ 536
State income taxes net of federal benefit 57 (675) (147)
Change in valuation allowance associated with federal deferred tax

assets (6,915) (7,558) (1,895)
Compensation charges (4) 194 —
Unrecognized tax benefits (290) (133) —
AMT and foreign taxes (8) 40 24
Other permanent differences 102 101 139
Income tax benefit $ (5,297) $ (5,900) $ (1,343)

 
The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
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March 31,
2009 2008

(In thousands)
Deferred tax assets:

Net operating losses $ 13,942 $ 16,777
Credit carry forwards 247 164
Deferred compensation and payroll 1,035 1,359
Bad debt allowance and other reserves 672 601
Other, net 264 167

Total deferred tax assets 16,160 19,068
Valuation allowance — (7,887)
Net deferred tax assets 16,160 11,181
      
Deferred tax liabilities:

Property and equipment (104) (160)
Acquired intangibles (341) (183)
Other, net 31 (490)

Total deferred tax liabilities (414) (833)
Net deferred tax assets $ 15,746 $ 10,348

 
The components of current and deferred federal and state income tax benefits and provisions are as follows:

 
Year Ended March 31,

2009 2008 2007
(In thousands)

Current income tax provision:
Federal $ (200) $ 94 $ 25
State 223 40 32
Foreign 78 40 24

Deferred income tax benefit:
Federal (5,261) (5,011) (1,170)
State (137) (1,063) (254)

Net income tax benefit $ (5,297) $ (5,900) $ (1,343)
 

At March 31, 2009, we had approximately $184,000 in federal alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards and $30,000 in state alternative
minimum tax credit carryforwards that can be carried forward indefinitely. We had $40.8 million of federal net operating loss carryforwards at March 31,
2009 that begin to expire in 2019 and $18.4 million of state net operating loss carryforwards that begin to expire in 2013.

 
In May 2004, we acquired a greater than 80% ownership interest in a former subsidiary and from that date forward, our income taxes are provided on

a consolidated basis for federal income tax purposes. Due to changes in stock ownership, the prior year $44.4 million of federal net operating loss
carryforwards and other federal tax attributes of Iteris are subject to a Section 382 limitation estimated at approximately $7.8 million annually which can be
utilized to offset federal consolidated taxable income. To the extent such limitation is not exceeded in a particular year, the excess limitation accumulates and
adds to subsequent years’ limitations.

 
Pursuant to SFAS 123R, our deferred tax assets at March 31, 2009 do not include $2.4 million of excess tax benefits from employee stock option

exercises that are a component of our net operating loss carryforwards. If and when such excess tax benefits are realized, stockholders’ equity will be adjusted.
 

At March 31, 2009, we determined that it is more likely than not that our deferred tax assets will be realized. In making such determination, we
reviewed all available positive and negative evidence, including reversal of deferred tax liabilities, potential carrybacks, projected future taxable income, tax
planning strategies and recent financial performance. As a result, at March 31, 2009, we recorded a reduction to income tax expense of $7.4 million.

 
Unremitted earnings of our foreign subsidiary have been included in the consolidated financial statements without giving effect to the United States

taxes that may be payable on distribution to the United States because it is not anticipated that such earnings will be remitted to the United States.  If remitted,
the additional United States taxes would not be material.
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FIN 48
 

As of April 1, 2007, we recognized the cumulative impact of the adoption of FIN 48 as a $224,000 increase to our liability for unrecognized tax
benefits with a corresponding increase to our accumulated deficit balance. As of March 31, 2009 and 2008, our gross unrecognized tax benefits were $2.5
million and $2.8 million, respectively, of which $1.1 million and $88,000 respectively, if recognized, would affect our effective tax rate. The gross
unrecognized tax benefits differ from the amount that would affect our effective tax rate due primarily to the impact of the valuation allowance on such
differences.

 
Our continuing practice is to recognize interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense.  As of March 31, 2009 and 2008,

we had accrued cumulatively $39,000 and $28,000, respectively, for the payment of interest and penalties.
 
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the total amounts of gross unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):

 
Gross unrecognized tax benefits at April 1, 2007 $ 1,584

Increases in tax positions for prior year 1,160
Decreases in tax positions for prior year (147)
Increases in tax positions for current year 327
Lapse in statute of limitations (136)

Gross unrecognized tax benefits at March 31, 2008 2,788
Increases in tax positions for prior year 155
Decreases in tax positions for prior year (36)
Increases in tax positions for current year 22
Lapse in statute of limitations (404)

Gross unrecognized tax benefits at March 31, 2009 $ 2,525
 
We anticipate a decrease in gross unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $300,000 within the next twelve months based on federal and state statute

expirations in various jurisdictions.
 

We are subject to taxation in the United States and various states.  We are subject to U.S. federal tax examination for fiscal tax years ended March 31,
2006 and state as well as local income tax examination for fiscal tax years ended March 31, 2005.

 
5.                                     Commitments and Contingencies
 
Litigation
 

On June 29, 2004, a supplier to Mariner Networks, Inc., a former subsidiary of Iteris that was discontinued in the fiscal year ended March 31,
2002, filed a complaint in Orange County Superior Court against us alleging various breaches of written contract claims arising out of alleged purchase
orders.  On July 20, 2006, we entered into a settlement agreement in connection with this matter.  The dispute was settled in full for $688,000 payable as
follows:  (i) we issued 88,912 shares of our common stock on August 18, 2006 valued at $213,000 based on the closing sales price of our common stock on
the date of issuance; (ii) we made a cash payment of $125,000 on October 20, 2006; and (iii) we are obligated to pay $350,000 in cash in equal monthly
installments of $9,700 over three years beginning in November 2006 through October 2009.  In connection with this settlement, we recorded a charge of
$635,000, representing the fair value of the settlement, within other expense in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations for the year ended
March 31, 2007.

 
From time to time, we have been involved in litigation relating to claims arising out of our operations in the normal course of business. We currently

are not a party to any legal proceedings, the adverse outcome of which, in management’s opinion, individually or in the aggregate, would have a material
adverse effect on our consolidated results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

 
Furthermore, from time to time, we have experienced unforeseen developments in contingencies related to our former subsidiaries.  For example, we

have been the subject of a number of routine tax audits for time periods and jurisdictions related to the businesses of our former subsidiaries, some of which
are still in process.  Although the development and ultimate outcome of these and other unforeseen matters cannot be predicted with any certainty, our
management does not believe that we are presently involved in any matters related to our former subsidiaries that would have a material adverse effect on our
consolidated results of operations, financial position or cash flows.
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Operating Leases
 

In May 2007, we entered into an agreement to lease 52,000 square feet of space in Santa Ana, California for a term of 88 months. In September 2007,
we relocated our headquarters and principal operations into this space. The monthly lease rate is $102,000 during the first year of the lease and increases each
year thereafter, up to a maximum of $120,000 during the last year of the lease. The lease may be extended for a period of five years, at our option, at a lease
rate to be based on the market lease rate for comparable property determined as of the commencement date of the extension period. Additionally, the lease
agreement provides for $1.8 million in incentives in the form of tenant improvement allowances, which we recorded as deferred rent and capitalized leasehold
improvements in our consolidated balance sheet.  The deferred rent amount will reduce future rent expense over the term of the lease, and the capitalized
leasehold improvements amount will be depreciated over the initial term of the lease (the estimated useful life of the related leasehold improvements).

 
We have lease commitments for facilities in various locations throughout the United States as well as certain other equipment.  Future minimum

rental payments under these noncancelable operating leases at March 31, 2009 were as follows:
 

Year Ending March 31:
(In thousands)
2010 $ 2,010
2011 1,741
2012 1,468
2013 1,371
2014 1,393
Thereafter 1,064

$ 9,047
 

Rent expense totaled $1.8 million, $2.1 million and $2.2 million for the years ended March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
 
We previously had recorded on our consolidated balance sheet a deferred gain related to the May 2002 sale and leaseback of our prior headquarters in

Anaheim, California.  The deferred gain was amortized over the term of the underlying lease, which terminated in September 2007, and resulted in a realized
gain of $165,000 in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2008 and $284,000 in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2007.

 
We previously subleased office space to MAXxess Systems, Inc. (“MAXxess”), one of our former subsidiaries that we sold in September 2003 and

is currently owned by an investor group that includes two of our directors, one of which is the Chief Executive Officer of MAXxess. At March 31, 2009,
MAXxess owed us an aggregate of $274,000 related to this sublease, which terminated in September 2007, and certain related ancillary services that we
provided to MAXxess.  Although we have fully reserved for amounts owed to us by MAXxess under the terms of this sublease, we intend to continue to
pursue full payment of any and all amounts due from MAXxess.

 
Inventory Purchase Commitments
 

At March 31, 2009, we had firm commitments to purchase approximately $3.8 million of inventory during the first and second quarters of our
fiscal year ending March 31, 2010.

 
Deferred Compensation Plan
 

In 1986, we adopted the Executive Deferral Plan (the “1986 Plan”) under which certain executives were able to defer a portion of their annual
compensation into the 1986 Plan. All deferred amounts earned interest, generally with no guaranteed rate of return.  During the year ended March 31, 2003, we
adopted the Deferred Compensation Plan, and all assets of the 1986 Plan were transferred into the Deferred Compensation Plan.  No compensation
withholdings were deferred under the 1986 Plan or the Deferred Compensation Plan in the years ended March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007.

 
At March 31, 2009, the Deferred Compensation Plan held 23,844 shares of our common stock, which we have presented as an aggregated $31,000

deferred compensation plan liability in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. At March 31, 2008, the Deferred Compensation Plan held 167,177
shares of our common stock and $5,000 in cash.  Changes in the value of Iteris common stock held by the Deferred Compensation Plan are determined based
on changes in the quoted market price of our common stock at the close of each reporting period and presented within operating expenses in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. As a result of such changes in the value of Iteris common stock, we recorded expense of $72,000, expense of $21,000
and a benefit of $91,000 in the years ended March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.  The original $31,000 cost basis of shares of Iteris common stock
held in the Deferred Compensation Plan at March 31, 2009 has been recorded as a contra-equity account in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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6.                                     Stockholders’ Equity
 
Preferred Stock
 

Our certificate of incorporation provides for the issuance of up to 2,000,000 shares of preferred stock. As of March 31, 2009 and 2008, there were no
outstanding shares of preferred stock, and we do not currently have any plans to issue any shares of preferred stock. Our Board of Directors is authorized to
issue from time to time such authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock in one or more series and to fix or alter the designations, preferences, rights and
any qualifications, limitations or restrictions of the shares of each such series, including the dividend, conversion, voting, redemption and liquidation rights.
 
Common Stock and Common Stock Warrants
 

On September 28, 2006, we issued warrants to purchase an aggregate 246,250 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $3.25 with a five-year
life to an existing shareholder in exchange for the early exercise of 1,250,000 outstanding warrants with an exercise price of $1.61.  These new warrants were
immediately exercisable and are callable by us if the market price of our common stock trades for 20 consecutive days at a price greater than or equal to two
times the exercise price of the warrants.  The fair value of these new warrants was $320,000 calculated using the BSM option-pricing formula.  The warrants
were considered a cost of raising capital and were recorded in equity.

 
In connection with the issuance of the above-described warrants, we are party to a registration rights agreement that contains provisions under which

we could be subjected to liquidated damages should it fail to maintain effective registration statements for the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise
of the warrants.  These warrants have been accounted for within equity in the consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2009 and 2008 in accordance with
EITF Issue No. 00-19 Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially Settled in, a Company’s Own Stock , and, accordingly,
no liabilities have been recorded in connection therewith.  As of March 31, 2009, no liquidated damages were payable under the provisions of the registration
rights agreement associated with these warrants.

 
The following table summarizes information regarding outstanding warrants to purchase our common stock as of March 31, 2009:

 

Range of Exercise Prices
Warrants

Outstanding

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Life

Weighted
Average Exercise

Price
(In thousands) (Years)

$1.42 15 4.4 $ 1.42
$3.25 246 1.9 3.25
$3.61 to $4.03 674 0.1 3.93
$5.00 to $5.26 230 0.7 5.18

1,165 0.7 $ 4.00
 

All of the outstanding warrants were exercisable at March 31, 2009.  Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 246,260 shares of common stock at an
exercise price of $3.25 per share are callable by us if the market price of our common stock trades for 20 consecutive days at a price equal to or greater than
two times the exercise price of the warrants. Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 75,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $5.00 per share are
callable by us if the market price of our common stock trades for 20 consecutive days at a price equal to or greater than one and a half times the exercise price
of the warrants.

 
In May 2009, 673,883 warrants associated with our convertible debentures (see Note 3) with a weighted average exercise price of $3.93 expired

unexercised.
 

The following summarizes common stock reserved for future issuance at March 31, 2009:
 

(In thousands)

Shares issuable under stock options plans 3,760
Shares issuable under the exercise of warrants 1,165

4,925
 

Upon the exercise of warrants or stock options, we issue new shares of common stock from our authorized shares.
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7.                                     Associate Benefit Plans
 
Stock Option Plans
 

On September 21, 2007, our stockholders approved the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2007 Plan”), which provides that options to purchase
shares of our unissued common stock may be granted to our employees, officers, consultants and directors at exercise prices which are equal to or greater than
the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant. Options expire no more than ten years after the date of grant and generally vest at the rate of
25% on each of the first four anniversaries of the grant date. The 2007 Plan also allows for the issuance of stock appreciation rights, restricted stock,
restricted stock units and other stock-based awards based on the value of our common stock. New shares are issued to satisfy stock option exercises and
share issuances under the 2007 Plan. As of March 31, 2009, options to purchase approximately 404,000 shares of common stock were outstanding under the
2007 Plan.

 
Our 1997 Stock Incentive Plan (the “1997 Plan”) terminated in September 2007; however, all stock options outstanding under the 1997 Plan will

remain outstanding pursuant to the terms of such stock options. As of March 31, 2009, options to purchase approximately 1.3 million shares of our common
stock were outstanding under the 1997 Plan.

 
In connection with our merger with the Iteris Subsidiary in 2004, we assumed the 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (the “1998 Plan”) of the Iteris

Subsidiary and all outstanding options granted thereunder. As of March 31, 2009, options to purchase approximately 1.6 million shares of our common stock
were outstanding under the 1998 Plan. No further options may be granted under the 1998 Plan.

 
Certain options granted under the 2007 Plan, the 1997 Plan and the 1998 Plan (collectively, the “Plans”) provide for accelerated vesting of unvested

options in the event of a change in control under certain circumstances. These change-in-control provisions meet the criteria of a performance condition under
SFAS 123R.

 
A summary of activity in the Plans for the year ended March 31, 2009 is as follows:

 

Options

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price Per

Share

Weigthed
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Life

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

(In thousands) (Years) (In thousands)
Options outstanding at March 31, 2008 4,524 $ 1.83

Granted 30 2.10
Exercised (785) 1.20
Forfeited (20) 2.58
Expired (435) 2.28

Options outstanding at March 31, 2009 3,314 $ 1.92 4.0 $ 346
Vested and expected to vest at March 31, 2009 3,245 $ 1.91 3.9 $ 346
Options exercisable at March 31, 2009 2,857 $ 1.85 3.4 $ 346
Options exercisable at March 31, 2009 pursuant to a

change-in-control 3,314 $ 1.92 4.0 $ 346
 

At March 31, 2009, there were approximately 446,000 shares of common stock available for grant under the 2007 Plan.
 
Stock-Based Compensation
 

The grant date fair value of options granted was estimated using the following weighted-average assumptions:
 

Year Ended March 31,
2009 2008 2007

        
Dividend yield —% —% —%
Expected life - years 7.0 7.0 7.0
Risk-free interest rate 3.3% 3.8% 4.7%
Expected volatility of common stock 0.75 0.80 0.90
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A summary of certain fair value and intrinsic value information is as follows:
 

Year Ended March 31,
2009 2008 2007

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Weighted average grant date fair value per share of  options granted $ 1.50 $ 1.83 $ 1.92
Intrinsic value of options exercised 771 2,555 2,288

 
At March 31, 2009, there was approximately $836,000 of total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested stock options.  This expense

is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.7 years. If there are any modifications or cancellations of the underlying
unvested stock options, we may be required to accelerate, increase or cancel any remaining unearned stock-based compensation expense. Future stock-based
compensation expense and unearned stock-based compensation will increase to the extent that we issue additional stock options or other stock-based awards.

 
Associate Incentive Programs
 

Under the terms of a Profit Sharing Plan, we may contribute to a trust fund such amounts as are determined annually by the Board of Directors. No
contributions were made during the years ended March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007.

 
In May 1990, we adopted a 401(k) Plan as an amendment and replacement of the former Associate Stock Purchase Plan that was an additional

feature of the Profit Sharing Plan. Under the 401(k) Plan, eligible associates voluntarily contribute to the plan, up to IRS maximums, through payroll
deductions. We match up to 90% of contributions, based on years of service, up to a stated limit. Under the provisions of the 401(k) Plan, associates have
various investment choices, one of which is the purchase of Iteris common stock at market price. Our matching contributions were approximately $753,000,
$401,000 and $480,000 for the years ended March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

 
8.                                     Business Segment and Geographic Information
 

We currently operate in three reportable segments: Roadway Sensors, Vehicle Sensors and Transportation Systems. The Roadway Sensors segment
includes our Vantage and VersiCam vehicle detection products and systems for traffic intersection control, incident detection and certain highway traffic data
collection applications. The Vehicle Sensors segment includes our lane departure warning products and is comprised of all activities related to vehicle safety.
The Transportation Systems segment includes transportation engineering and consulting services, and the development of transportation management and
traveler information systems for the ITS industry. The accounting policies of our reportable segments are the same as those described in the summary of
significant accounting policies in Note 1.  Beginning April 1, 2007, we increased the portion of our corporate expenses that we allocate to our segments such
that substantially all corporate expenses are allocated.  Interest, amortization of certain intangibles and certain corporate expenses are still not allocated to the
segments. The reportable segments are each managed separately because they manufacture and distribute distinct products or provide services with different
processes. All segment revenues are derived from external customers. Segment assets are not disclosed because the discrete financial information provided to
and reviewed by our chief operating decision maker does not separately identify segment assets.
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Selected financial information for our reportable segments as of and for the years ended March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 is as follows:
 

Roadway
Sensors

Vehicle
Sensors

Transportation
Systems Total

(In thousands)
Year Ended March 31, 2009
Product revenue $ 27,197 $ 9,913 $ — $ 37,110
Service and other revenue — 1,317 30,932 32,249
Stock-based compensation 30 48 50 128
Depreciation and amortization 198 137 249 584
Allocated goodwill 8,197 4,671 14,906 27,774
Segment income 3,415 5 6 9 2,216 6,200
          
Year Ended March 31, 2008
Product revenue $ 28,452 $ 10,016 $ — $ 38,468
Service and other revenue — 1,858 24,837 26,695
Stock-based compensation 18 45 27 90
Depreciation and amortization 107 130 147 384
Allocated goodwill 8,197 4,671 14,906 27,774
Segment income 5,062 552 2,094 7,708
          
Year Ended March 31, 2007
Product revenue $ 27,261 $ 6,408 $ — $ 33,669
Service and other revenue — 2,579 22,049 24,628
Stock-based compensation 37 54 78 169
Depreciation and amortization 82 138 126 346
Allocated goodwill 8,197 4,671 14,906 27,774
Segment income (loss) 6,035 (2,625) 2,551 5,961
 
The following reconciles segment income to consolidated income before income taxes:

 
Year Ended March 31,

2009 2008 2007
(In thousands)

Segment income:
Total income from reportable segments $ 6,200 $ 7,708 $ 5,961
Unallocated amounts:

Corporate and other expenses (346) (266) (1,986)
Amortization of intangible assets (147) (147) (147)
Other income, net 116 252 (653)
Interest expense, net (646) (1,284) (1,600)

Income before income taxes $ 5,177 $ 6,263 $ 1,575
 
Significant Customer and Geographic Information
 

No single customer accounted for more than 10% of our total net sales and contract revenues for the years ended March 31, 2009 and 2008. One
customer within our Roadway Sensors segment accounted for approximately 12.4% of our total net sales and contract revenues for the year ended March 31,
2007.

 
The Roadway Sensors segment had one customer who accounted for 19.3%, 16.9% and 26.5% of total segment revenue for the years ended

March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
 
The Vehicle Sensors segment had three customers who accounted for an aggregate of 63.3% of total segment revenue for the year ended March 31,

2009; three customers who accounted for an aggregate of 60.9% of total segment revenue for the year ended March 31, 2008; and three customers who
accounted for an aggregate of 64.2% of total segment revenue for the year ended March 31, 2007.
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The Transportation Systems segment had one customer who accounted for 11.5% of segment revenue for the year ended March 31, 2009 and one
customer who accounted for 13.3% of total segment revenue for the year ended March 31, 2007.

 
At March 31, 2009 and 2008, our gross accounts receivable from governmental agencies and prime government contractors were approximately $6.5

million and $6.4 million, respectively. No individual customer or government agency had a receivable balance at March 31, 2009 or 2008 greater than 10% of
our total trade accounts receivable balances as of March 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

 
Our total net sales and contract revenues derived from all independent customers located outside the United States approximated 15%, 12% and 6%

for the years ended March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
 
Our assets are held substantially in the United States.

 
9.                                     Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
 

Quarter Ended:

Total Net
Sales and
Contract
Revenues Gross Profit

Net
Income

Basic
Earnings
per Share

Diluted
Earnings

per Share
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

June 30, 2008 $ 17,442 $ 7,752 $ 6 6 6 $ 0.02 $ 0.02
September 30, 2008 19,066 7,875 1,067 0.03 0.03
December 31, 2008 16,462 6,504 741 0.02 0.02
March 31, 2009 16,389 5,788 8,000 0.23 0.23

$ 69,359 $ 27,919 $ 10,474 $ 0.31* $ 0.30*
            
June 30, 2007 $ 15,757 $ 7,094 $ 1,096 $ 0.03 $ 0.03
September 30, 2007 16,976 7,262 2,170 0.07 0.06
December 31, 2007 15,363 6,500 954 0.03 0.03
March 31, 2008 17,067 7,441 7,943 0.24 0.23

$ 65,163 $ 28,297 $ 12,163 $ 0.37* $ 0.35*
 

*            Annual per share amounts may not agree to the sum of the quarterly per share amounts due to differences between average shares outstanding during the
periods.

 
10.                              Subsequent Events
 
Purchase Acquisition
 

In April 2009, we completed the acquisition of certain assets of Hamilton Signal, Inc., a privately-held developer of video processing algorithms
enabling state and local governments to conduct real-time analysis on fixed and Pan-Tilt-Zoom camera feeds. The total purchase consideration was
approximately $518,000, for which we paid $300,000 in cash upon execution of the purchase agreement (the “Closing”), and for which we are scheduled to
pay an additional (i) $106,000 on the one-year anniversary of the Closing and (ii) approximately $112,000 on the two-year anniversary of the Closing,
pursuant to the purchase agreement. The seller is also eligible to receive additional consideration based on future net sales of certain products, subject to certain
limitations, as further described in the purchase agreement.
 
Employment Termination
 

In May 2009, as part of an internal reorganization, we terminated the employment of the Senior Vice President and General Manager of our Vehicle
Sensors segment. We expect to incur a charge of approximately $100,000 in the first quarter of the fiscal year ending March 31, 2010 related to certain
severance benefits to be paid in connection with the termination agreement.
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2004, by and between the registrant and U.S. Stock Transfer
Corporation, including exhibits thereto

Exhibit 99.1 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A/A as
field with the SEC on June 18, 2004

     
10.1* Profit Sharing Plan and Trust Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Amendment No. 2 to the Registration

Statement on Form S-8 (Reg. No. 002-98656) as filed with the SEC on
May 5, 1988

     
10.2* Amendment Nos. 3 and 4 to the Profit Sharing Plan and Trust Exhibits 4.3.1 and 4.3.2, respectively, to Amendment No. 3 to the

registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Reg. No. 002-86220) as
filed with the SEC on June 13, 1990

     
10.3* Form of Executive Deferral Plan between the registrant and

certain employees of the registrant
Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended March 31, 1988

     
10.4 Form of Indemnity Agreement entered into by the registrant and

certain of its officers and directors
Exhibit 19.4 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 1988

     
10.5 Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into by the registrant

and certain of its officers and directors
Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended March 31, 2004 as filed with the SEC on June 29, 2004

     
10.6* 1997 Stock Incentive Plan (the “1997 Plan”) as amended on

May 3, 2003, as further amended on December 15, 2004
Exhibit 10.32 to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended March 31, 2005 as filed with the SEC on July 14, 2005
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Exhibit
Number Description Where Located
     
10.7* Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Option Exhibit 99.2 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File

No. 333-30396) as filed with the SEC on February 14, 2000
     
10.8* Form of Stock Option Agreement Exhibit 99.3 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File

No. 333-30396) as filed with the SEC on February 14, 2000
     
10.9* Form of Addendum to Stock Option Agreement—Involuntary

Termination Following Corporate Transaction or Change in
Control

Exhibit 99.4 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File
No. 333-30396) as filed with the SEC on February 14, 2000

     
10.10* Form of Addendum to Stock Option Agreement—Limited

Stock Appreciation Rights
Exhibit 99.5 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File
No. 333-30396) as filed with the SEC on February 14, 2000

     
10.11* Form of Stock Issuance Agreement Exhibit 99.6 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File

No. 333-30396) as filed with the SEC on February 14, 2000
     
10.12* Form of Addendum to Stock Issuance Agreement—Involuntary

Termination Following Corporate Transaction/Change in
Control

Exhibit 99.7 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File
No. 333-30396) as filed with the SEC on February 14, 2000

     
10.13* Form of Notice of Grant of Automatic Stock Option—Initial

Grant
Exhibit 99.8 to Exhibit 99.8 to registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form S-8 (File No. 333-30396) as filed with the SEC on February 14,
2000

     
10.14* Form of Notice of Grant of Automatic Stock Option—Annual

Grant
Exhibit 99.9 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File
No. 333-30396) as filed with the SEC on February 14, 2000

     
10.15* Form of Automatic Stock Option Agreement. Exhibit 99.10 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File

No. 333-30396) as filed with the SEC on February 19, 2000
     
10.16 Amended and Restated Agreement of Purchase and Sale and

Escrow Instructions, dated February 19, 2002, by and between
Iteris, Inc. and 1515 South Manchester, LLC

Exhibit 2.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with
the SEC on June 12, 2002

     
10.17* Iteris Inc. 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (as amended on

February 7, 2000)
Exhibit 10.24 to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended March 31, 2005 as filed with the SEC on July 14, 2005

     
10.18* Form of Notice of Grant, including forms of Option Agreement

and Stock Purchase Agreement for the following directors and
executive officers: Gary Hernandez, Dr. Hartmut Marwitz, Paul
E. Wright, Jack Johnson, Richard D. Crawshaw, Gregory
McKhann, Francis Memole, James S. Miele, Abbas Mohaddes
and Stephen Edwin Rowe

Exhibit 99.2 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File
No. 333-126834) as filed with the SEC on July 22, 2005

     
10.19* Form of Addendum to Stock Option Agreement Exhibit 99.3 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File

No. 333-126834) as filed with the SEC on July 22, 2005
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Exhibit
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10.20* Form of 1997 Stock Option Agreements Exhibit 99.4 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File

No. 333-126834) as filed with the SEC on July 22, 2005
     
10.21* Iteris, Inc. Deferred Compensation Savings Plan and Grantor

Trust
Exhibit 10.31 to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended March 31, 2005 as filed with the SEC on July 14, 2005

     
10.22+ Cooperative Agreement for Development, Manufacture,

Marketing and Sale of Products to the Class 1 and Class 2
Vehicle Markets Incorporating Iteris’ LDWS Technology (Valeo
Schalter and Sensoren GmbH)

Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2004 as filed with the SEC on August 16, 2004

     
10.23 Warrant Exercise Agreement dated September 27, 2006 by and

among the registrant and Special Situations Fund III QP, L.P.,
Special Situations Fund III, L.P., Special Situations Cayman
Fund, L.P. and Special Situations Private Equity Fund, L.P.

Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2006 as filed with the SEC on November 14,
2006.

     
10.24 Registration Rights Agreement dated September 28, 2006 by

and among the registrant and Special Situations Fund III QP,
L.P., Special Situations Fund III, L.P., Special Situations
Cayman Fund, L.P. and Special Situations Private Equity
Fund, L.P.

Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2006 as filed with the SEC on November 14,
2006.

     
10.25+ National Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Architecture

Evolution and Support Award/Contract effective as of
October 1, 2006 by and between the registrant and the Federal
Highway Administration

Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2006 as filed with the SEC on November 14,
2006.

     
10.26 Loan and Security Agreement effective as of October 16, 2006

by and between the registrant and Silicon Valley Bank
Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2006 as filed with the SEC on November 14,
2006.

     
10.27 Intellectual Property Security Agreement dated October 9, 2006

by and between the registrant and Silicon Valley Bank
Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2006 as filed with the SEC on November 14,
2006.

     
10.28+ Settlement Agreement, effective August 15, 2006, by and

between the registrant and Delta Networks, Inc.
Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with
the SEC on August 21, 2006

     
10.29* Offer letter effective February 28, 2007 by and between the

registrant and Abbas Mohaddes
Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with
the SEC on March 6, 2007

     
10.30* Separation Agreement and Release of Claims dated March 1,

2007 by and between the registrant and Jack Johnson
Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with
the SEC on March 6, 2007

     
10.31 Sublease Agreement, dated September 30, 2003, by and between

Odetics, Inc. and Maij, Inc.
Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2007 as filed with the SEC on August 14, 2007

     
10.32 Office Lease Agreement, dated May 24, 2007, by and between

Crown Carnegie Associates, LLC and Iteris, Inc.
Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2007 as filed with the SEC on August 14, 2007
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10.33 Termination Agreement, dated May 30, 2007, by and among

Transportation Planning Group, Inc., Abbas Mohaddes and
Iteris, Inc.

Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2007 as filed with the SEC on August 14, 2007

     
10.34* 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan and forms of agreements Appendix A to the registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A

as filed with the SEC on August 10, 2007
     
10.35 Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated October 17,

2007, by and between Silicon Valley Bank and Iteris, Inc.
Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with
the SEC on October 23, 2007

     
10.36 Debenture Redemption Agreement, dated February 11, 2008, by

and among Potomac Capital Partners, LP, Potomac Capital
International Ltd. and Iteris, Inc.

Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with
the SEC on February 15, 2008

     
10.37 Debenture Redemption Agreement, dated February 27, 2008, by

and between Gruber & McBaine International and Iteris, Inc.
Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with
the SEC on February 29, 2008

     
10.38 Debenture Redemption Agreement, dated February 27, 2008, by

and between Lagunitas Partners, LP and Iteris, Inc.
Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with
the SEC on February 29, 2008

     
10.39 Debenture Redemption Agreement, dated February 27, 2008, by

and between Jon D. and Linda W. Gruber Trust and Iteris, Inc.
Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with
the SEC on February 29, 2008

     
10.40* Change in Control Agreement dated June 11, 2008 by and

between James S. Miele and Iteris, Inc.
Exhibit 10.42 to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended March 31, 2008 as filed with the SEC on June 12, 2008

     
10.41 Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated

February 4, 2009 by and between California Bank & Trust
and the registrant

Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended December 31, 2008 as filed with the SEC on February 13,
2009

     
10.42 Debenture Redemption Agreement, dated October 17, 2008, by

and between the registrant and certain affiliates of Bryant R.
Riley

Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended December 31, 2008 as filed with the SEC on February 13,
2009

     
10.43 Debenture Redemption Agreement, dated October 27, 2008, by

and between the registrant and each of Lloyd I. Miller, III, Lloyd
I. Miller Trust A-4, Milfam I, L.P. and Milfam II, L.P.

Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended December 31, 2008 as filed with the SEC on February 13,
2009

     
10.44 Debenture Redemption Agreement, dated January 9, 2009, by

and between the registrant and each of Irvin Kessler and
Provident Premier Master Fund Ltd.

Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended December 31, 2008 as filed with the SEC on February 13,
2009

     
10.45 Separation Agreement and Release of All Claims, dated May 20,

2009, by and between Francis Memole and the registrant
Filed Herewith

     
21 Subsidiaries of the registrant Filed Herewith
     
23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Filed Herewith
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31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Filed Herewith

     
31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Filed Herewith

     
32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18

U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Filed Herewith

     
32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18

U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Filed Herewith

 

* Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
+ Confidential treatment has been requested for certain confidential portions of this exhibit pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended. In accordance with Rule 24b-2, these confidential portions have been omitted from the exhibit and filed separately with the SEC.
 



Exhibit 10.45
 

SEPARATION AGREEMENT AND RELEASE OF ALL CLAIMS
 

This Separation Agreement and Release of All Claims (the “ Agreement”) is between Francis Memole (“Employee”) and Iteris, Inc., a Delaware
corporation (the “Iteris” or “Company”).  Employee and the Company are sometimes collectively referred to as the “ Parties” or individually as a “Party.”

 
RECITALS

 
A.    Employee’s employment as a Senior Vice President and General Manager of Iteris ended effective May 1, 2009 (hereinafter “ Separation Date”);

and
 
B.    Employee holds the following outstanding options to purchase an aggregate of 142,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock (collectively the

“Options”), which Options were granted under the Company’s 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (the “ 1998 Plan”) or the 1997 Stock Incentive Plan (the “ 1997
Plan”):
 

Grant Date No. of Shares
Exercise

Price
Shares Vested as of

Separation Date
Equity Plan

Covering Option
09/21/01 68,000 $ 1.19 68,000 1998 Plan
05/01/02 20,000 $ 1.40 20,000 1998 Plan
08/29/05 24,000 $ 3.21 18,000 1997 Plan
06/15/06 30,000 $ 2.21 15,000 1997 Plan

 
C.    Except as specifically set forth herein, Employee was obligated to return all Iteris property, including any files, records, electronic data,

computers, laptops, PDAs, cell phones, printers, reports, customer information, disc, keys, vehicles, or any property of any kind to Iteris as of the
Separation Date; and

 
D.    Employee and Iteris desire to end their relationship amicably and resolve any potential disagreements between them, and any matters pertaining

to Employee’s employment with Iteris as specified in this Agreement and the Company has elected to offer Employee compensation and benefits to which he
would not otherwise be entitled.

 
AGREEMENTS

 
Based upon the foregoing, and in consideration of the mutual promises contained in this Agreement, Employee and the Company (for its benefit and

the benefit of the other Company Parties as defined below) agree, effective upon the date of execution by Employee, as follows:
 
1.         Acknowledgements.
 

(a)           Payments Received.  Employee represents that he has full power and authority to enter into this Agreement.  Employee further
acknowledges and agrees that he  has been paid all amounts due and owing as of the date of execution of this Agreement, including but not limited to, all regular
salary, accrued but unused vacation and PTO, expenses, commissions, distributions, bonuses, stock and any other Company benefits due and owing as of
the date of execution of this Agreement, less appropriate withholdings and Employee confirms he is not
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owed any monies allowed, including but not limited to those required under the California Labor Code, as of the date of execution of this Agreement.  Employee
further understands, agrees and acknowledges that such amounts are not consideration for this Agreement.

 
(b)           Options.  The date of cessation of Service as defined in the Options shall be the Separation Date, and Employee agrees that no

further vesting of any of the Options will take place after the Separation Date pursuant to the terms of the Options, the 1997 Plan, the 1998 Plan, the
applicable option documents or any other agreement.  Employee acknowledges and agrees that except as indicated above, Employee does not own any options,
warrants or any other rights to acquire any securities of the Company.

 
2.         Consideration and Effective Date .  The Parties recognize that, apart from this Agreement, the Company is not obligated to provide employees

with any of the benefits set forth hereunder. The Company agrees to provide the Employee the following consideration beginning no later than five (5) business
days after the expiration of the seven (7) day revocation period described in Paragraph 10 below (“ Effective Date”), provided Employee has not revoked this
Agreement as described in that Paragraph.  The Company’s obligations are not triggered before the Effective Date.  Subject to Employee’s compliance with the
terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Company agrees to provide Employee the following consideration for agreeing to the obligations specified in this
Agreement as follows:

 
(a)           Total Severance Payment. Payment of four and one half months (780 hours) salary in the aggregate amount of Seventy-One

Thousand Nine Hundred and Ninety-Four Dollars ($71,994), less standard employee withholding taxes and other lawful deductions the Company deems
appropriate, in eight (8) bi-weekly payments of $7,384.00 and one (1) final bi-weekly payment of $12,922.00 in accordance with the Company’s regular
payroll practices (the “Severance Payment”).

 
(b)           COBRA.  Employee is advised that he may be an “assistance eligible individual” as that term is used in American Recovery and

Reinvestment Act (the “Act”).  Employee will receive COBRA paperwork from directly the Company’s COBRA administrator, Conexis, and must sign and
return the form directly to Conexis to elect COBRA coverage.  Upon Employee’s timely election of COBRA continuation coverage under the Company’s health
plan and the Company’s receipt from Employee of a copy of such election and proof of his timely payment of 35% of the first month of COBRA premiums,
the Company will pay to Employee a lump sum equal to 35% of the first month of COBRA premiums and the Company will comply with its’ obligations
under the Act and pay the remaining 65% of the COBRA premiums through December 31, 2009 or until such time as Employee subsequently becomes
covered by another group health plan, whichever is earlier.  Employee agrees to notify the Company immediately if he becomes covered by another group health
plan.  Employee understands and assumes the risk that the Employee may become ineligible for the subsidy by virtue of his modified adjusted gross income
or other facts and that there may be additional tax liability as a result of the Company’s payment of this subsidy.  Employee is advised that he may waive his
right to the subsidy by contacting Conexis and hereby releases the Company from any and all liability connected with his election or waiver of the subsidy.

 
(c)           Other Property.  Employee shall be allowed to take ownership of the laptop computer that has been assigned to him and provided

for his use, provided however, prior to the delivery to Employee of such laptop computer, the Company shall remove from such laptop computer (i) any
information, documents, data or other proprietary information of, or related to, the Company or its business; and (ii) any software which is not properly
licensed for Employee’s personal use.
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3.         No Rights to Additional Benefit; No Admission of Liability . Employee acknowledges and agrees that, apart from this Agreement, the

Company is not obligated to provide employees with any of the benefits set forth hereunder, including the Severance Payments and other consideration
referenced in Paragraph 2 and that such consideration is in exchange for entering into this Agreement.  Employee will not at any time seek additional
consideration in any form from the Company except as expressly set forth in this Agreement.  Employee further agrees and acknowledges that nothing
contained in this Agreement shall constitute or be treated as an admission of liability or wrongdoing by the Company, which liability or wrongdoing the
Company expressly denies.

 
4.             Taxes.  Notwithstanding the tax deductions set forth in Paragraph 2 above, Employee shall pay in full when due, and shall be solely

responsible for, any and all federal, state or local income taxes that are or may be assessed against him relating to the consideration provided, including the
Severance Payment or other consideration received pursuant to this Agreement, as well as all interest or penalties that may be owed in connection with such
taxes.  Employee is not relying on any representations or conduct of the Company with respect to the adequacy of the withholdings.

 
5.             Release.

 
(a)           Employee, on behalf of himself, his spouse, successors, heirs, and assigns, hereby forever relieves, releases, and discharges the

Company as well as its past, present and future officers, directors, administrators, stockholders, employees, agents, attorneys, successors, subsidiaries,
parents, assigns, representatives, brother/sister corporations, and all other affiliated or related corporations, all benefit plans sponsored by the Company, and
entities, and each of their respective present and former agents, employees, or representatives, insurers, partners, associates, successors, and assigns, and
any entity owned by or affiliated with any of the above (all of the foregoing are collectively referred to as the “ Company Parties”) from any and all claims,
debts, liabilities, demands, obligations, liens, promises, acts, agreements, costs and expenses  (including but not limited to attorneys’ fees), damages,
actions, and causes of action, of whatever kind or nature, including but not limited to any statutory, civil, administrative, or common law claims, whether
known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, fixed or contingent, arising out of any act or omission occurring before Employee’s execution of this
Agreement, including but not limited to any claims based on, arising out of, or related to Employee’s employment with, or the ending of Employee’s
employment with the Company, any claims arising from rights under federal, state, and local laws relating to the regulation of federal or state tax payments or
accounting; federal, state or local laws that prohibit harassment or discrimination on the basis of race, national origin, religion, sex, gender, age, marital
status, bankruptcy status, disability, perceived disability, ancestry, sexual orientation, family and medical leave, or any other form of harassment or
discrimination or related cause of action (including but not limited to failure to maintain an environment free from harassment and retaliation, inappropriate
comments or touching and/or “off-duty” conduct of other Company employees); statutory or common law claims of any kind, including but not limited to,
any alleged violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, The Civil Rights Act of 1991, Sections 1981 through 1988 of Title 42 of the United States
Code, as amended; The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1971, as amended, The Americans with Disability Act of 1990, as amended, the
Workers Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, as amended; the
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Occupational Safety and Health Act, as amended, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the California Family Rights Act (Cal. Govt. Code § 12945.2 et seq.), the
California Fair Employment and Housing Act (Cal. Govt. Code § 12900 et. seq.), statutory provision regarding retaliation/discrimination for filing a workers’
compensation claim under Cal. Labor Code § 132a, California Unruh Civil Rights Act, California Sexual Orientation Bias Law (Cal. Lab. Code § 1101 et.
seq.), California AIDS Testing and Confidentiality Law, California Confidentiality of Medical Information (Cal. Civ. Code § 56 et. seq.), contract, tort, and
property rights, breach of contract, breach of implied-in-fact contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, tortious interference with
contract or current or prospective economic advantage, fraud, deceit, invasion of privacy, unfair competition, misrepresentation, defamation, wrongful
termination, tortious infliction of emotional distress (whether intentional or negligent), breach of fiduciary duty, violation of public policy, or any other
common law claim of any kind whatsoever; any claims for severance pay, sick leave, family leave, liability pay, overtime pay, vacation, life insurance,
health insurance, continuation of health benefits, disability or medical insurance, or Employee’s 401(k) rights or any other fringe benefit or compensation,
including but not limited to stock options; any claim for damages or declaratory or injunctive relief of any kind.  The Parties agree and acknowledge that the
release contained in this Paragraph 5 does not apply to any vested rights Employee may have under any 401(k) Savings Plan with the Company.  Employee
represents that at the time of the execution of this Agreement, he suffers from no work-related injuries and has no disability or medical condition as defined by
the Family Medical Leave Act.  Employee represents that he has no workers’ compensation claims that he intends to bring against the Company.  Employee
understands that nothing contained in this Agreement, including, but not limited to, this Paragraph 5, will be interpreted to prevent him from filing a charge
with a governmental agency or participating in or cooperating with an investigation conducted by a governmental agency.  However, Employee agrees that he is
waiving the right to monetary damages or other individual legal or equitable relief awarded as a result of any such proceeding.

 
(b)          Mistakes in Fact; Voluntary Consent.  Employee expressly and knowingly acknowledges that, after the execution of this

Agreement, he may discover facts different from or in addition to those that he now knows or believes to be true with respect to the claims released in this
Agreement.  Nonetheless, this Agreement shall be and remain in full force and effect in all respects, notwithstanding such different or additional facts and
Employee intends to fully, finally, and forever settle and release those claims released in this Agreement.  In furtherance of such intention, the release given in
this Agreement shall be and remain in effect as a full and complete release of such claims, notwithstanding the discovery and existence of any additional
different claims and Employee assumes the risk of mistakes, and if Employee should subsequently discover that any fact relied upon in entering into this
Agreement was untrue or that his understanding of the facts or law was incorrect, he shall not be entitled to set aside this Agreement or the settlement reflected
in this Agreement or be entitled to recover any damages on that account.

 
(c)           Section 1542 of the California Civil Code .  Employee expressly waives any and all rights and benefits conferred upon him by

Section 1542 of the California Civil Code, which states as follows:
 
A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS WHICH THE CREDITOR DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO
EXIST IN HIS OR HER FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE, WHICH IF KNOWN BY HIM OR HER MUST
HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR.
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Accordingly, Employee knowingly, voluntarily and expressly waives and relinquishes any rights and benefits arising under Section 1542
of the California Civil Code and any other statute or principle of similar effect.
 

6.             No Lawsuits.  Employee represents that he has not filed any claims, charges, complaints or actions against the Company or any
Company Parties, or assigned to anyone any charges, complaints, claims or actions against the Company or any Company Parties.  Employee agrees to take
any and all steps necessary to insure that no lawsuit arising out of any claim released herein shall ever be prosecuted by Employee or on his behalf in any
forum, and hereby warrants and covenants that no such action has been filed or shall ever be filed or prosecuted.  Employee also agrees that if any claim is
prosecuted in his name before any court or administrative agency that he waives and agrees not to take any award or other damages from such suit to the extent
permissible under applicable law.  Employee further agrees to cooperate fully with the Company in the event of a lawsuit or threat of lawsuit arising out of acts
and events occurred during Employee’s employment with the Company.

 
7.             Confidentiality / Nondisparagment .  Employee agrees that Employee will not disclose to others, except to the extent required by law,

subpoena or by the Company’s independent auditors, (i) the fact or terms of this Agreement, (ii) the amounts referenced in this Agreement, (iii) the fact of the
payment of these amounts,  or (iv) any disparaging information pertaining to or relating to Employee’s employment with, the Company’s employees or agents,
or the ending of Employee’s employment with, the Company, except that he may disclose such facts to his attorneys, accountants, insurers or other
professional advisors to whom the disclosure is necessary to effect the purpose for which the professional has been consulted, provided that the professional
agrees to be bound by his confidentiality provision. Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, Employee agrees that if ever asked to disclose any fact
covered by this Paragraph he must state words to the effect of “I cannot comment” until such time when the information becomes available in the public
domain through no fault of Employee .

 
Nothing contained in this Paragraph shall preclude Employee from revealing or describing his  employment with the Company to

prospective employers; provided however, such disclosure shall be limited to the fact that he was employed by the Company, the dates of his employment and
the nature and depth of his job responsibilities and accomplishments while employed by the Company.  Employee agrees to direct all requests for references to
Cathy Steger, Human Resources Director, c/o Iteris, Inc., 1700 Carnegie Avenue, Suite 100, Santa Ana, CA  92705 (Phone: (949) 270-9679).  The Company
acknowledges that in describing Employee’s employment with the Company to his prospective employer, any such disclosure shall be limited to the
Company’s regular practice of disclosure only of the last job title Employee held, dates of employment and any other information the Company has been
required to disclose by the state or federal securities laws and filings.

 
The confidentiality obligations contained in this Paragraph shall be in addition to the Iteris Associate Agreement between the Company and

Employee dated November 24, 2003 (the “ Associate Agreement”) any other confidentiality agreements between the Parties.  Notwithstanding the foregoing ,
nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as precluding disclosure where such disclosure is required and compelled by law.  In the event that Employee is
required and compelled by law to disclose any such matters, he will first give fifteen (15) days
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advance written notice (or, in the event that it is not possible to provide fifteen (15) days written notice, as much written notice as is possible under the
circumstances) to the Company so that the Company may present and preserve any objections that it may have to such disclosure and/or seek an appropriate
protective order.  Employee acknowledges and agrees that this Paragraph is a material inducement to the Company’s entering into this Agreement, and further
acknowledges and agrees that any breach of this Paragraph by Employee shall be subject him to a claim for damages or equitable relief (or both), including
but not limited to injunctive relief.

 
8.         Proprietary Information and Return of Company Property .  Employee agrees to continue to abide by the terms and provisions of the Associate

Agreement, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit A to this Agreement.  Employee understands, acknowledges and agrees that whether or not Employee signs
this Agreement, he has both a contractual and common law obligation to protect the confidentiality of the Company’s trade secret information after the
termination of Employee’s employment for so long as the information remains confidential.   Employee further agrees to immediately return all Company
property in his possession, including but not limited to documents, all materials, documents, photographs, handbooks, manuals, electronic records, files,
cellular telephones, keys and access cards, prior to the Effective Date, provided however, Employee may retain his laptop computer subject to the provisions
of Paragraph 2(c) above and may continue to use his cellular phone until May 31, 2009 but shall immediately thereafter return such cellular phone to the
Company..

 
9.         ADEA Waiver.  Employee specifically agrees and acknowledges:  (a) that his waiver of rights under this Agreement is knowing and

voluntary as required under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, 29 U.S.C. § 621 et. seq. and the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act; (b) that he
understands the terms of this Agreement; (c) that the Company advises Employee to consult with an attorney prior to executing this Agreement; (d) that the
Company has given him a period of up to twenty-one (21) days within which to consider this Agreement; (e) that, following his execution of this Agreement, he
has seven (7) days in which to revoke his agreement to this Agreement as specified in Paragraph 10, and that, if he chooses not to so revoke, the Agreement
shall then become effective and enforceable and the payment and extension of benefits listed above shall then be made to him in accordance with the terms of
this Agreement; and (f) nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to prohibit him from filing a charge or complaint, including a challenge to the validity of
the waiver provision of this Agreement, with a government agency or the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or participating in any investigation
conducted by the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission.  However, Employee agrees he is waiving the right to monetary damages or other equitable or
monetary relief as a result of such proceedings.

 
10.       Revocation Period.  Employee may revoke this Agreement and his release of claims, insofar as it extends to potential claims under the Age

Discrimination in Employment Act, by informing Iteris of his intent to revoke his release within seven (7) calendar days following his execution of this
Agreement.  Employee understands that any such revocation must be in writing and delivered by hand or by certified mail - return receipt requested - within
the applicable seven (7) day period to Cathy Steger, Human Resources Director, c/o Iteris, Inc. 1700 Carnegie Avenue, Suite 100, Santa Ana, CA  92705. 
Employee understands that if Employee exercises his right to revoke, then Iteris will have no obligations under this Agreement to Employee or to others whose
rights derive from him.  The Agreement shall not become effective or enforceable, until the seven (7) day revocation period identified above has expired.  The
terms of this Agreement shall be open for acceptance by Employee for a period of twenty-one (21)  calendar days, and Employee understands that he should
and the Company hereby advises him to, consult with legal counsel regarding the releases contained herein and to consider whether to accept the Company’s
offer and sign the Agreement.
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11.           Nonassignment.  Employee represents and warrants that he has not assigned or transferred any portion of any claim or rights he has or

may have to any other person, firm, corporation or any other entity, and that no other person, firm, corporation, or other entity has any lien or interest in any
such claim.

 
12.           Miscellaneous Provisions .
 

(a)          Integration.  This Agreement and documents and exhibits referenced and attached to this Agreement, constitute a single, integrated
written contract expressing the entire Agreement of the Parties concerning the subject matter referred to in this Agreement.  No covenants, agreements,
representations, or warranties of any kind whatsoever, whether express or implied in law or fact, have been made by any Party to this Agreement, except as
specifically set forth in this Agreement.  All prior and contemporaneous discussions, negotiations, and agreements have been and are merged and integrated
into, and are superseded by, this Agreement.

 
(b)          Modifications.  No modification, amendment, or waiver of any of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall be binding

upon any Party to this Agreement unless made in writing and signed by both Parties, nor shall be asserted by any Party based upon any act or performance
unless evidenced by a specific writing acknowledging the same by the Party to be charged.

 
(c)          Severability.  Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such a manner as to be effective and

valid under applicable law and to carry out each provision herein to the greatest extent possible, but if any provision of this Agreement is held to be void,
voidable, invalid, illegal or for any other reason unenforceable, the validity, legality and enforceability of the other provisions of this Agreement will not be
affected or impaired thereby, and will be interpreted so as to effect, as closely as possible, the intent of the Parties hereto.

 
(d)          Non-Reliance on Other Parties .  Except for statements expressly set forth in this Agreement, neither of the Parties has made any

statement or representation to any other Party regarding a fact relied on by the other Party in entering into this Agreement, and no Party has relied on any
statement, representation, or promise of any other Party, or of any representative or attorney for any other Party, in executing this Agreement or in making the
settlement provided for in this Agreement.

 
(e)          Negotiated Agreement .  The terms of this Agreement are contractual, not a mere recital, and are the result of negotiations between

the Parties.  Accordingly, no Party shall be deemed to be the drafter of this Agreement.
 
(f)           Successors and Assigns .  This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon the heirs, successors, and

assigns of the Parties hereto and each of them.  In the case of the Company, this Agreement is intended to release and inure to the benefit of the Company and
the Company Parties.
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(g)          Applicable Law.  This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with, and governed by, the laws of the State of California

without taking into account conflict of law principles.
 
(h)          Facsimile and Counterpart . This Agreement may be executed via facsimile and in one or more counterparts, each of which shall

be deemed an original, but all of which together constitute one and the same instrument, binding on the Parties.
 
EMPLOYEE ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT EMPLOYEE HAS CAREFULLY READ AND VOLUNTARILY SIGNED THIS
AGREEMENT, THAT EMPLOYEE HAS HAD AT LEAST 21 DAYS IN WHICH TO CONSIDER AND REVIEW THE AGREEMENT,
THAT EMPLOYEE HAS HAD AN OPPORTUNITY TO CONSULT WITH AN ATTORNEY OF EMPLOYEE’S CHOICE, AND THAT
EMPLOYEE SIGNS THIS AGREEMENT WITH THE INTENT OF RELEASING THE COMPANY AND THE COMPANY PARTIES FROM
ANY AND ALL CLAIMS.

 
ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO:
  
May 20, 2009 May 20, 2009
ITERIS SYSTEMS, INC. EMPLOYEE:
  
  
By: /s/ Abbas Mohaddes /s/ Francis Memole

Abbas Mohaddes, Name:Francis Memole
Chief Executive Officer Address:
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Exhibit 21
 

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES
 

Subsidiary
Jurisdiction of
Incorporation

   
Iteris Europe GmbH Germany
 



Exhibit 23
 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statements (Nos.333-121942, 333-136739, and 333-138735) on Form S-3 and (Nos. 333-146459,
333-126834, 333-75728, 333-05735, 333-44907 and 333-30396) on Form S-8 of Iteris, Inc. of our report dated June 10, 2009, relating to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements, which appear in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Iteris, Inc. for the year ended March 31, 2009.
 
/s/ McGladrey & Pullen, LLP
Irvine, California
June 10, 2009
 



Exhibit 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Abbas Mohaddes, certify that:
 
1.     I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Iteris, Inc.;
 
2.     Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make

the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3.     Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects

the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.     The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 
(a)           Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated Subsidiary, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 
(b)           Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; and
 
(c)           Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
(d)           Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 
5.     The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to

the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
(a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably

likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.
 

Date: June 11, 2009
   

/s/ ABBAS MOHADDES
Abbas Mohaddes
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

 



Exhibit 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, James S. Miele, certify that:
 
1.     I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Iteris, Inc.;
 
2.     Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make

the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3.     Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects

the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.     The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 
(a)           Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated Subsidiary, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 
(b)           Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; and
 
(c)           Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
(d)           Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 
5.     The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to

the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
(a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably

likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.
 

Date: June 11, 2009
   

/s/ JAMES S. MIELE
James S. Miele
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

 



Exhibit 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. §1350, AS ADOPTED 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In connection with the Annual Report of Iteris, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009, as filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Abbas Mohaddes, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

 
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

 
Dated: June 11, 2009
   

/s/ ABBAS MOHADDES
Abbas Mohaddes
Chief Executive Officer

 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or any other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the

signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to the Company and
will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
 



Exhibit 32.2
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. §1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In connection with the Annual Report of Iteris, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009 as filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, James S. Miele, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

 
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

 
Date: June 11, 2009
   

/s/ JAMES S. MIELE
James S. Miele,
Chief Financial Officer

 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or any other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the

signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to the Company and
will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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